
  

 

 Contacting the Council:  Switchboard 01782 717717 .  Text 07800 140048  

Email webmaster@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk.  www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 

Castle House 
Barracks Road 
Newcastle-under-Lyme 
Staffordshire 

ST5 1BL 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

PART 1 – OPEN AGENDA 

 
1 APOLOGIES    

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    

 To receive declarations of interest from Members  on items included in the agenda. 
 

3 MINUTES OF A PREVIOUS MEETING   (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 20th May 2020 
 

4 CORONAVIRUS RECOVERY PLAN UPDATE   (Pages 11 - 24) 

 This item includes a supplementary report. 
 

5 LOCAL PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PLAN   (Pages 25 - 92) 

6 FORWARD PLAN   (Pages 93 - 98) 

7 URGENT BUSINESS    

 To consider any business which is urgent within the meaning of Section 100B(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 

8 DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION    

 To resolve that the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following reports, because it is likely that there will be disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

 ATTENDANCE AT CABINET MEETINGS 
 

Date of 
meeting 
 

Wednesday, 10th June, 2020 

Time 
 

2.00 pm 

Venue 
 

Cabinet - Virtual Meeting - Conference 

Contact Denise French 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:webmaster@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk


  

 Councillor attendance at Cabinet meetings: 
(1) The Chair or spokesperson of the Council’s scrutiny committees and the mover of 

any motion referred to Cabinet shall be entitled to attend any formal public meeting 
of Cabinet to speak. 

 
(2) Other persons including non-executive members of the Council may speak at such 

meetings with the permission of the Chair of the Cabinet.  
 
Public attendance at Cabinet meetings: 

(1) If a member of the public wishes to ask a question(s) at a meeting of Cabinet, they 
should serve two clear days’ notice in writing of any such question(s) to the 
appropriate committee officer.  

(2) The Council Leader as Chair of Cabinet is given the discretion to waive the above 
deadline and assess the permissibility if the question(s). The Chair’s decision will 
be final. 

(3) The maximum limit is three public questions at any one Cabinet meeting. 
(4) A maximum limit of three minutes is provided for each person to ask an initial 

question or make an initial statement to the Cabinet. 
(5) Any questions deemed to be repetitious or vexatious will be disallowed at the 

discretion of the Chair.  
 
Members: Councillors Simon Tagg (Chair), Stephen Sweeney (Vice-Chair), 

Trevor Johnson, Mrs Helena Maxfield, Paul Northcott and Mrs Jill Waring 
 

ONLINE COMMITTEE MEETING JOINING INSTRUCTIONS 
 
The meeting of Cabinet will begin at 2pm on Wednesday 10th June 
This meeting will be held virtually using Zoom. 
Watching the Meeting 
You can attend the meeting in the following ways: 
Web: https://zoom.us/j/99643040515 
Using the Zoom App 
Telephone: 0330 088 5830 or 0131 460 1196 
The Conference ID for telephone and Zoom App users is: 996-4304-0515 
You do not require a password or pre-registration to access this committee meeting. Please note, as 
an attendee you will only be able to watch the meeting. You will not be able to vote, ask questions or 
discuss the materials presented to the committee. 
 
Questions and Representations 
If you would like to ask a question or make a representation during the meeting, please inform our 
Committee Services team by emailing denise.french@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
All requests to ask questions or make representations should be submitted by mid day on the day 
before the meeting. 
 
In your email, please include details of the item you would like to speak on and, if you are asking a 
question, the question itself. If you cannot be identified to ask your question during the meeting, the 
meeting Chairperson will ask the question for you. 
 
When joining the webinar using the App or Web link, please ensure that you enter your full 
name as your screen name, so that you can be identified during the meeting and asked to 
speak at the appropriate time. 
 
If you will be joining the webinar by phone please ensure that you inform our Committee 
Services team of the number you will be using and make sure that your Caller ID is not blocked – this 
will allow us to identify you during the meeting and facilitate you speaking to the committee. 
 
 
 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE: THERE ARE NO FIRE DRILLS PLANNED FOR THIS EVENING SO IF THE FIRE ALARM 
DOES SOUND, PLEASE LEAVE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY THROUGH THE FIRE EXIT 
DOORS. 
 
ON EXITING THE BUILDING, PLEASE ASSEMBLE AT THE FRONT OF THE BUILDING BY THE 
STATUE OF QUEEN VICTORIA. DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL ADVISED TO DO SO 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet - 20/05/20 

1 

CABINET 
 

Wednesday, 20th May, 2020 
Time of Commencement: 2.00 pm 

 
 
Present:- Councillor Simon Tagg – Chair 
  
Councillors S. Sweeney, T. Johnson, H. Maxfield, 

P. Northcott and J Waring 
  
Officers David Adams, Martin Hamilton, Jan 

Willis, Geoff Durham, David Elkington 
and Daniel Dickinson 

 
 
Note: In line with Government directions on staying at home during the current stage 
of the CV-19 pandemic, this meeting was conducted by video conferencing in 
accordance with the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020. 
 
 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
There were no apologies. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest stated. 
 

3. MINUTES OF A PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 April, 2020 be agreed 

as a correct record. 
 

4. CORONAVIRUS UPDATE AND RECOVERY PLANNING  
 
A report was submitted to Cabinet to inform Members on actions taken across the 
Council in response to the Coronavirus pandemic and to prepare for recovery.  
 
The Leader, Councillor Simon Tagg introduced the report advising Members that the 
report looked at the issues that had been encountered as a result of the virus and 
also the recovery process that would take place afterwards. 
 
The Leader thanked the staff for their ongoing work during the crisis and referred 
Members to paragraph two of the report which outlined the work being carried out. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and Heritage, Councillor Jill Waring echoed 
thanks to the staff and felt reassured with all of the Council’s services. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet - 20/05/20 

2 

Councillor Waring stated that Jubilee 2 (J2) and the Borough Museum had both been 
closed since the lockdown had begun in March and that staff from J2 had been 
redeployed to assist with the Council’s helplines. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Recycling, Councillor Trevor Johnson 
stated that the Streetscene team had performed brilliantly.  They had been flexible 
and reactive in carrying out their duties. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Efficiency, Councillor Stephen Sweeney stated 
that taxi licencing was continuing although no new licenses were being issued at this 
time. 
 
The Portfolio Holders for Planning and Growth, Councillor Paul Northcott and for 
Community Safety and Wellbeing, Councillor Helena Maxfield thanked the staff for all 
that they were doing and made reference to those who had been redeployed and 
kept services going. 
 
Councillor Maxfield referred to the work being carried out to identify the vulnerable 
members of the community and stated that the number of enquiries had begun to 
decrease as people were finding their way around the support mechanisms that were 
available.  The Vulnerability Hub was still there for people who may need to make 
contact as the crisis continued. 
 
Councillor Northcott stated that everyone should be aware of vulnerability during 
lockdown and that the Council needed to ensure that all areas were covered, working 
with partners and the County Council. 
 
The Government had put a package in place to help with businesses and this 
Authority had received funding to administer to local businesses to help them to get 
through the current crisis. 
 
Councillor Sweeney confirmed that, to date £18.935m had been given out to local 
businesses and that this Council had received a grant of £1.3m from the government 
to help with the effects of the crisis. 
 
The Leader thanked the officers who had been administering the funding to local 
businesses, working late into the evening and even at weekends to ensure that the 
funding was distributed.  In addition, a new scheme was about to start which would 
include businesses that were not previously eligible. 
 
The Council had lost income through the temporary closures of J2 and the Museum 
and also the loss of car parking revenue.  The grant received from the government 
would help with these losses. 
 
The Leader referred Members to paragraph 3 of the report which focussed on the 
recovery throughout the Borough as the lockdown eased. A recovery Plan had been 
prepared with six work streams. 
 
Councillor Johnson referred to the recycling and waste services advising Members 
that during the lockdown, the use of the new model for the recycling service had 
been so successful that it had now been brought forward with the distribution of the 
new containers to commence towards the end of next week.  All residents would be 
on the new service by August 3rd.  The existing collector vehicles may still need to be 
utilised in the meantime until the new ones had arrived. 
 

Page 6



Cabinet - 20/05/20 

3 

Councillor Waring advised Members that work was ongoing to reopen J2 and the 
Museum which would not be until 1 July at the earliest.  The Museum project had 
been considered and risk assessments and health and safety checks would be 
undertaken to ensure that the services would be safe to reopen. 
 
Councillor Sweeney advised that the Council was working with the BID and the 
traders in respect of smaller shops and the market and would await guidance from 
Central Government as to when these could reopen. 
 
Councillor Northcott added that this would need to be carried out on a scale that had 
not been seen before and would need to be done at the pace of the individual 
businesses. 
 
The Leader concluded that this would be the start of a long process and stated that 
the matter would be referred to the Council’s three scrutiny committees to ask them 
to assess the actions already taken and to give advice on the recovery plan going 
forward.  
 
 
Resolved: (i) That the report be noted and that the work being 

undertaken to respond to the Coronavirus pandemic and 
prepare for recovery, be endorsed. 

 
(ii)    That the Council’s three Scrutiny Committees receive a  

report at their special meetings taking place in June to enable 
them to review and challenge the recovery planning related to 
their remit. 

 
5. PRE-VALIDATION CHECKING SCHEME  

 
A report was submitted to Cabinet advising Members of a new optional pre-validation 
checking service for Planning applications which would help to speed up the process.  
The service would be chargeable. 
 
Councillor Northcott introduced the report advising Members that the process would 
give equality and cut down on the overall time in deciding applications. 
 
The Leader added that the process would also help with the recovery process after 
lockdown in getting things moving again. 
 
 
Resolved: That the new pre-validation checking arrangements and  
  associated charging Scheme be approved. 
 

6. FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER FOUR  
 
A report was submitted to Cabinet providing the Financial and Performance review 
Report for Quarter Four 2019/20. 
 
Councillor Sweeney introduced the first part of the report, drawing Members’ 
attention to page 31 of the agenda which outlined the current financial position.  
Councillor Sweeney made reference to paragraph 3.2 which outlined the reasons for 
the variance. 
 
The Leader introduced the performance part of the report, commencing at page 33 of 

Page 7



Cabinet - 20/05/20 

4 

the agenda.  Members were advised that the last quarter had been hit by the 
Coronavirus and therefore the targets were looking back before lockdown.  
 
Priority 1. Local Services that Work for Local People 
 
Councillor Johnson stated that all indicators at 1.4 and 1,5 were looking excellent 
during that period. 
 
The Leader made reference to the indicators at 1.6 to 1.9 adding that Customer 
Services had been assisted by J2  staff during lockdown. 
 
Councillor Sweeney referred to indicators 1.10 to 1.13 stating that the figures were 
excellent prior to the current crisis. 
 
 
Priority 2. Growing our People and Places. 
 
Councillor Northcott referred to the indicators at 2.2 to 2.5 stating that he was 
impressed with the Planning team and the new Head of Planning. 
 
 
Priority 3. A Healthy, Active and Safe Borough 
 
Councillor Maxfield referred to the indicators at 3.1 and 3.2 and stated that she had 
high praise for the teams dealing with Anti-Social Behaviour and Vulnerability during 
this time, maintaining the connections with the Council’s partners whilst working from 
home. 
 
Councillor Waring referred to the indicators 3.3 to 3.5 adding that the Museum and J2 
had been severely impacted by the Coronavirus.  New memberships for J2 was 
currently frozen. 
 
 
Priority 4. A Town Centre for All. 
 
The Leader stated that the town centre had also been severely hit by the 
Coronavirus.  Councillor Sweeney added that the High Streets Fund and Town Deals 
were going through and a date was awaited as to when businesses could start 
opening up again.  
 
 
Resolved:  That the contents of the report be noted and that the Council’s 

performance alongside its financial performance for the same period 
continue to be monitored and challenged. 

 
7. FORWARD PLAN  

 
Consideration was given to the Forward Plan which listed upcoming key decisions to 
be made by the Cabinet. 
 
Resolved:     That the Forward Plan be received. 
 

8. URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no Urgent Business. 

Page 8



Cabinet - 20/05/20 

5 

 
 

COUNCILLOR SIMON TAGG 
Chair 

 
 

Meeting concluded at 2.50 pm 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 

Choose an item. 
10 June 2020 

 
Report Title: Back on Track - Coronavirus Pandemic Recovery Plan Update 
 
Submitted by: Chief Executive 
 
Portfolios: All 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To inform the Cabinet of the actions being taken across the Council to respond to the coronavirus 
pandemic and to recover from its impacts. 

 

Recommendation 
 
1. It is recommended that Cabinet note this report and endorse the work being undertaken to 

recover from the pandemic 
  

Reasons 
 
To allow Cabinet to publicly consider the actions being undertaken in to recover from the pandemic  

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The coronavirus pandemic is the greatest single risk to the health and economic wellbeing of 

the country since the Second World War.  In February 2020 the Council established an Incident 
Management Team to plan the Council’s response, ensuring that support to local residents 
and businesses was provided, that Council services were maintained, and the welfare of 
officers and members protected.  Informal Cabinet have been regularly briefed on the work 
being progressed, including a daily briefing with the Leader.  The approach adopted is based 
on existing business contingency arrangements and has put the Council in a good position in 
terms of stepping up its response. 
 

1.2 The Incident Management Team interfaces with a range of groups which have been set up 
countywide to co-ordinate the response to the pandemic, including the Strategic Coordinating 
Group, and working groups on mortality management and vulnerability. 
 

1.3 Cabinet has received reports at its April and May meetings detailing the work of the Incident 
Management Team.  At May’s Cabinet meeting, Members emphasised that the Council was 
firmly focused on recovery, with key elements of the response running in parallel. 

 
2. The Recovery Plan 

 
 2.1 This report addresses the Council’s current position across five areas of the recovery work: 

 Reopening Safe, Successful Retail Centres 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

 Supporting Health & Wellbeing 

 Economic Recovery 

 Stepping-up Council Services 

 Financial Recovery 
 

2.2 With the lockdown beginning to be eased, efforts are now be focused on recovery, and 

ensuring that both the Council and the Borough get “Back on Track” – getting the economy 

back to its pre-lockdown position as swiftly and safely as possible.  

2.3 This plan is delivered through more detailed action plans, with the Cabinet overseeing 

implementation through portfolio holders working closely with the Executive Management 

Team colleagues leading on each work stream.  Key work undertaken to date is detailed 

below. 

 

Reopening Safe, Successful Retail Centres 

 

2.4 Arrangements have been put in place to facilitate the safe re-opening of Newcastle and 

Kidsgrove town centres and the various district centres across the borough.  This includes 

provision of advice to all businesses about “Covid Secure” arrangements that they will need 

to put in place, and deploying signage wherever necessary.   

 

2.5 A key step towards the reopening of Newcastle town centre was the relaunch of the market 

on Friday 5th June, which served as a “soft re-opening”. Good social distancing was in 

evidence, with a number of long standing traders returning to the town centre to benefit from 

the Council’s offer of 6 weeks of trading without incurring pitch fees. 

 

Supporting Health & Wellbeing  

 

2.6 The Council continues to operate a helpline and online facility for individuals to reach out for 

assistance.  The helpline is staffed by colleagues from J2 and links into the national, and 

County support arrangements, as well as support arrangements established with the Realise 

Foundation and Support Staffordshire.  Demand for this service fluctuates but is generally 

reducing. 

 

2.7 Homeless & Rough Sleepers - In March the Government required District and Borough 

councils to provide emergency accommodation for any rough sleepers in their area and 

provided funds to support this.  The Council is currently providing emergency accommodation 

for 22 individuals in a mix of B & B and range of temporary accommodation, with support 

tiered according to need. 

 

2.8 The Council is currently working on an action plan for the ongoing support of each homeless 

person currently being housed, with a requirement to submit this plan to the Government in 

mid-June. 

 

2.9 To ensure that vulnerable people, and people made vulnerable by the pandemic, continue to 

receive the support that they require, the Council’s help line facilities have been retained. 

 

Economic Recovery 

Page 12



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

2.10 The Council has paid out approximately £20m to around 1700 businesses under the 

Government’s grant schemes for small businesses and businesses in the retail, hospitality 

and leisure sectors.  The Council has paid out grants to over 90% of eligible businesses.  

Applications for these grant programmes continue to be received, and an ongoing effort to 

encourage applications continues. 

 

2.11 The initial grant programmes were specifically related to the rateable value of the business 

premises, and as such excluded businesses which operated from shared premises where 

they paid a rent inclusive of rates (eg a business centre, or shared office space).  To support 

this cohort of businesses, the Government launched an additional scheme, with a degree of 

local discretion, including on the level of grants paid.  This discretionary grant fund was 

launched at the end of May with the expectation that grants will be paid to businesses in June. 

 

2.12 The Council’s economic recovery programme will involve a mix of immediate direct 

developments, alongside longer term strategic initiatives.  The longer term initiatives include 

the Town Deals for Newcastle and Kidsgrove, and the Future High Streets Fund bid for 

Newcastle.  In terms of direct developments, the focus will be on: 

 

 Ryecroft  

 Kidsgrove Sports Centre 

 Sidmouth Avenue housing project 

 Newcastle Mortuary Site 

 

Stepping-up Council Services 

 

2.13 Since the commencement of the lockdown, staff who have been able to effectively work from 

home have done so.  This has meant that the majority of services have continued with minimal 

disruption.  However, a number of services have been significantly impacted either due to the 

risk associated with continuing business as usual, the additional demands placed on the 

service, or due to Government guidance.  The services experiencing the most significant 

change are: 

 

 J2 – remains closed to the public.  The earliest this facility is likely to re-open will be early 
July, with a likelihood that even then, this would be a phased re-opening. 

 

 Museum – Remains closed to the public. The earliest that this facility is likely to re-open 
will be early July. 

 

 Castle House & Kidsgrove Customer Contact facilities – closed to the public, with all 
services being provided online or by phone. 

 

 Waste & Recycling Collection – All waste streams are being collected, including Garden 
Waste.  The collection schedule has been adjusted to make the best use of available 
resource, and to respect the guidance on social distancing.  Service performance has been 
sustained despite a very significant increase in volumes of waste being presented.  From 
week commencing 7th June, the new recycling collection system will start to be rolled out.  

 

 Bereavement – Whilst still busier than usual, the workload of the bereavement team is 
now beginning to return to more normal levels.  Whilst the numbers able to attend funerals 
will remain at 10 until further relaxation of social distancing is permitted, the service 

Page 13



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

anticipates being able to increase the time allocated to each funeral service to the normal 
40 minutes.  
 

 Taxi Licencing – the service is focusing on supporting existing drivers, with no new license 
applications currently being processed.  Taxi testing has been suspended.  Nevertheless, 
through holding remote licensing hearings and other measures in place, there remains an 
appropriately licenced adequate taxi and hackney carriage fleet in operation.  

 

2.14 In order to bring Council services back to their original capacities in line with Government 

guidance for re-opening the economy, each service has prepared a “Stepping Up” plan.  It is 

anticipated that some services will experience significant spikes in demand once the 

economy begins to re-open, with careful planning required to deliver this.  

 

Financial Recovery 

 
 
 

2.15 The pandemic has had a significant impact on the Council’s financial position through a mix 

of lost income and additional costs.  As reported at May’s Cabinet meeting, Government 

funding of £1.3m has been secured, which has reduced the immediate pressure on Council 

finances.   

 

2.16 The Council’s revenue budget relies on service income from fees and charges of c£850k per 

month across a wide range of services, with a significant proportion coming from J2 and car 

parking.  The Council has been actively monitoring the impact of the lockdown and the 

working practices required to ensure safe practice.  Across the business, it is estimated that 

net income of c£276k will be lost during each month that the lockdown prevails.  This is slightly 

lower than reported in May and reflects increased income from recycling credits as well as 

action taken to minimise associated costs. 

 
2.17 In addition to the loss of income, the Council is experiencing additional costs in some areas, 

amounting to c£147k per month. 

 

2.18 In the longer term, any impact on either business rates collection (due to business failure) or 

Council Tax collection (due to non-payment) may materialise in 2021/22.  A 10% reduction 

in the collection rate would cost the Council £180k per month in lost collection fund revenues. 

 
2.19 The consequences of the Coronavirus on the Council’s financial position will depend 

significantly on the duration of the lockdown and on the scale and timing of further 

Government financial support.  The Council is actively lobbying our local Members of 

Parliament and through national networks as part of the wider public sector family, to make 

the case for further Government support to address Covid-19 related costs and loss of 

income.  Particular emphasis in our lobbying has been the impact on Business rate and 

Council tax collection. 

2.20 The Council continues to strongly manage budgets and spending.  Action has been taken to 

furlough a number of staff, primarily from Leisure, where there is no ability or need to 

redeploy.  This will enable the Council to recoup a proportion of their salary costs from the 

Government.  Staff continue to be on full pay, and their contracts of employment are 

unaffected, with them returning to their usual roles as soon as the easing of lockdown permits. 

3.  PProposal  
  

Page 14



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

3.1 Cabinet are recommended to note this report. 
 
 
 

4. Reasons for Proposed Solution 
 
4.1 This report serves to brief cabinet on the work being undertaken to address the coronavirus 

pandemic, and the financial impact that the pandemic is having on the Council, and the 
recovery arrangements being put in place. 

  
5. Options Considered 

 
 5.1 N/A 

 
6. Legal and Statutory Implications 

 
 6.1 Addressing the impact of Coronavirus locally has involved adjustment to some service 

provision.  When making such changes there are a number of legal and statutory implications 
to take into account.  These are all appropriately factored into decision taking by the Incident 
Management Team. 

 
7. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 7.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
8. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
8.1 The Council’s General Fund balance as at 31st March 2019 was £1.548m.  Careful monitoring 

of the financial position will be required over coming weeks and months leading to prompt 
corrective action where necessary to ensure that reserves are not exhausted and the Council 
remains in a position of being able to deliver a balanced budget position in the current financial 
year and beyond. 

  
9. Major Risks 

 
 9.1 The Coronavirus Pandemic, in the round, represents a significant risk to the Council.  This 

report sets out how that risk is being addressed. 
 

10. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
10.1 N/A 

  
11. Key Decision Information 

 
 11.1 This is not a key decision. 

 
12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 

 
 12.1 None 

 
13. List of Appendices 

 
 13.1 Back on Track – Recovery Plan 

 
14. Background Papers 

 

Page 15



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

14.1 None  
 

  

Page 16



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

  

 Appendix 1:  Back on Track – Recovery Plan 
 
Coronavirus Pandemic – Recovery Plan  
 
The Coronavirus Pandemic is set to have a significant and potentially long-lasting impact on the economy 
of Newcastle-under-Lyme.  It is as yet unclear what the economic impact will be in terms of business 
closures, job losses and the overall impact on GDP.  Additionally, it must be anticipated that the measures 
necessary to combat the pandemic may have an enduring impact on how people live their lives and go 
about their daily business, whether at home, in the work place, in commerce, or in recreation. 
This paper sets out some actions required to recover from the social and economic impacts of the 
pandemic.  The plan assumes that social distancing, in some form, will continue for much of 2020 and 
therefore any release of the lockdown may not result in a rapid “spring back”.  This plan will interface with 
the work of the LRF’s Staffordshire-wide recovery plan. 
 

Recovery Vision – Back on Track 
 
Recovery Aims 
 

1. To return the economy, business, and infrastructure of Newcastle-under-Lyme to normality 

as quickly and safely as possible; 

 
2. To support the people and businesses of Newcastle-under-Lyme to adapt to, and benefit 

from, societal changes arising from the pandemic; 

 
3. Identify and exploit opportunities to improve the long-term economic prospects of the 

borough; 

 
4. Establish  and  maintain trust and confidence in a multi-agency recovery effort; 

 
5. Involve communities throughout the development and delivery of the recovery plan. 

  

Page 17



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

Essential Foundations for Recovery  Cabinet Lead:  Cllrs 
Tagg & Sweeney 

  EMT Lead:  Martin 
Hamilton 

 
  

1 Establish a clear understanding of the immediate, medium, and emerging 
likely long-term impacts of the pandemic on the economy of Newcastle under 
Lyme; 
 

2 Maximise delivery of Business Support Grants, and access to government 
backed finance; 
 

3 Establish and implement support packages for businesses in difficulty  
 

4 Support Businesses to trade ahead of lockdown ending;  
 

5 Establish & Implement support for residents experiencing hardship 
 

6 Sustain support for Vulnerable People 
 

7 Secure the immediate future of Newcastle Business Improvement District 
 

8 Establish dialogue with business community regarding recovery 
 

9 Understand and, where appropriate, align with Recovery Plans of key partners 
 

10 Maximise use of developed and emerging technology to enhance the working 
from home experience for all staff including Microsoft Teams, video and sound 
capabilities 
 

 
  

Page 18



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

 

Re-opening Safe, Successful Retail 
Centres 
 
Cabinet Lead:  Cllr Sweeney 
EMT Lead: Simon McEneny 

 
 Short Term: May- July 

 

 Establish and Implement a clear plan for the re-opening of Newcastle town 
centre as both an economic space, to include 
 
Arrangements for social distancing and  hygiene 
Safe retail and hospitality arrangements 
Relaunch of improved outdoor market and new trading arrangements 
Promotional activity – use local media and social media to promote and 
communicate activities and improvements 
Car parking 
Bus Station 
Public Conveniences 
Look & Feel/Streetscene 
 

 Undertake Covid Secure assessments on Kidsgrove, and other district 
shopping centres and establish proportionate re-opening plans 

  

 Medium – Long Term 
 

 Monitor contact tracing data 
 

 Maintain ongoing monitoring and review of Covid Secure arrangements 
 

 Maintain Buy Local Campaigns 
 

 Foot Fall Campaigns/events 
 

 Secure Future High Streets funding and progress associated projects 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 19



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

 

 
Supporting Health & Wellbeing  Cabinet Lead:  Cllr Maxfield 

  EMT Lead:  Simon McEneny 

 
 Short Term May- July 
  

 Prepare & Implement action plan to address homelessness and “rough 
sitting” beyond lockdown 
 

 Prepare and implement action plan to address Domestic Abuse  
 

 Maintain visibility of demand for Debt Advice and Welfare support, and 
respond as necessary. 
 

 Establish dialogue with Voluntary and Community Sectors to understand 
community impact of the pandemic; Establish mechanism to sustain and 
build on community/volunteer response.  
 

 Maximise out-door recreation opportunities 
 

 Medium – Long Term 
  

 Review impact of LAPs on Community Response, and strengthen LAP 
capability 
 

 Build on successful community response to build community resilience 
 

 Bring Housing Advice Service in-house 

  

 
 

  

Page 20



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

 
Stepping-up Council Services  Cabinet Lead:  Cllr Tagg 

  EMT Lead:  Dave Adams 

 
 Short Term May- July 
  

 Each Council Service to prepare a plan for Stepping Up Services following 
lockdown; 
 

 Prepare Covid Secure plans for key buildings ahead of building occupancy 
 

 Prepare safe working practices based on latest government advice and 
commence stepping up 
 

 Ensure that technological advances successfully tested during lockdown are 
fully utilised to ensure transparent local democracy re committee meetings,  
Cabinet and Council 
  
Support a culture of safety and flexibility; ensuring that all staff and particularly 
vulnerable groups and carers are supported to continue to deliver services.  
 

 Review First Aid provision and training for staff 
 

 Conduct individual risk assessments for staff where applicable 
 

 Roll out new waste and recycling service New Recycling Service 
  
Review flexible working and agile working policies 
  
Review Carers and Special Leave policies 
  
Launch staff wellbeing survey and values discussion with a view to developing 
the wellbeing offer bespoke to NULBC 

  

 Medium – Long Term  
  

 Review working practices to maximise efficiency 
 

 Review environmental impact of Council services – aim to be more low-carbon, 
‘green’ and environmentally friendly to inform Environmental Sustainability Plan  
 

 Review and update all Business Continuity Plans 
 

  

  

 
  

Page 21



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

 

Economic Recovery 
 
Cabinet Lead: Cllrs Tagg & Sweeney 
EMT Lead – Simon McEneny 
 
 Short Term: May- July 
 Establish a clear understanding of the immediate, medium, and emerging 

likely long term impacts of the pandemic on the economy of Newcastle-
under-Lyme; 
 

 Establish clear linkages into all business support advice and establish web 
links 
 

 Establish clear links with redundancy triage and training service 
 

 Medium – Long Term 
  

 Secure delivery of Local Plan 
 

 Secure regeneration investment through: 

 Newcastle Town Deal;  

 Kidsgrove Town Deal  

 Newcastle Future High Streets Fund; 
 

 Establish pipeline of economic growth projects 
 

 Bring forward key Projects to help “Kick Start” the economy (eg Sidmouth 
Ave, Kidsgrove Sports Centre, Museum, Mortuary Site, Etc 
 

 Deliver Air Quality Project 
 

 Establish and implement SMART TOWN and Sustainability Programme 

 
 

  

Page 22



  
Published 10 June 2020 
 

  

 
Financial Recovery 
 
Cabinet Lead: Cllrs Tagg & Sweeney 
EMT Lead: Jan Willis 
 
  

 Establish and implement Financial Recovery Plan for the Council 
 

 Accelerate Digital Programme to deliver service improvement and 
efficiencies 
 

 Accelerate Commercial Projects to secure financial return 
 

 Continued lobbying regarding local government finance 
 

 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



  

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
10 June 2020 

 
Report Title: Local Planning Enforcement Plan 
 
Submitted by: Head of Planning & Development 
 
Portfolios: Planning and Growth 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

To seek Cabinet approval for the adoption of an update to the Local Planning Enforcement Plan for the 
Borough Council in Newcastle-under-Lyme.  
 

Recommendation 
 
To approve the proposed Local Planning Enforcement Plan for introduction and implementation in the 
Borough. 

 

Reasons 
 

The Local Planning Enforcement Plan sets out the framework by which the Council will approach its 
enforcement duties by providing a method to prioritise the most serious breaches of planning control, the 
measures by which the Council might enforcement against a breach of planning control, and SMART 
targets for the progression of cases.  
 
The review of the plan has been undertaken as the existing plan is now 11 years old having been adopted 
in February 2009. Over the intervening time national and local planning policies have changed and the 
update ensures that the plan is in accordance with current best practice.  
 

 

 
1. Background 
 

1.1 The Council’s Planning service regulates development within the Borough. Development can 
constitute physical building works ranging from the construction of small extensions and other 
small works through to major schemes such as the construction of new factories and housing 
estates. In addition, development can comprise the change of use of land or buildings, for 
example the conversion of an office building to a block of flats.  

 
1.2 A large proportion of development work in the Borough requires approval through the granting 

of planning permission, although some smaller works can be undertaken without need to 
apply for consent from the Local Planning Authority (LPA) if they fall within the parameters of 
that which is permitted pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015. The legislation on permitted development is complex, in part 
because it addresses nearly all forms of development from household extensions through to 
infrastructure projects including highway and railway works. 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



  

  

1.3 Despite these opportunities existing for developers to secure approval through the 
appropriate legislation, there has historically been a low level of development in Borough that 
does not benefit from consent either through an application to the Council or through 
permitted development. This work is considered to be unauthorised and therefore the LPA 
can consider whether enforcement action is necessary to remedy any breach that has 
occurred. 

 
1.4 Whilst the Council has a range of powers to enforce against unauthorised development, the 

Government, through paragraph 207 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
states that enforcement action is discretionary and LPA's should act proportionately in 
responding to suspected breaches of planning control. 

 
1.5 The NPPF also recommends that Local Planning Authorities publish a Local Enforcement 

Plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way that is appropriate to their area. This 
should set out how they will monitor the implementation of planning permissions, investigate 
alleged cases of unauthorised development and take action where it is appropriate to do so. 

 
1.6 The Council has therefore drafted a Local Enforcement Plan in accordance with national 

guidance and sought consultation on this document.  
 

1.7 The key sections of the Local Planning Enforcement Plan deal with the following matters: 
 

 Defining what constitutes breach of planning control and the different forms a breach may 
take including retrospective and intermittent breaches 

 

 Identifying harm and its impacts 

 A scoring matrix to assist in quantifying harm 

 Prioritisation of enforcement cases 

 Methods of communication with the Council including timescales 

 Different routes to taking enforcement action including prosecution. 
 
1.8 The document is clear that at the heart of the consideration of an enforcement case is the 

amount of harm, the breach of planning control may cause and whether taking enforcement 
action would be expedient. This harm may manifest itself in detriment to the amenity or 
privacy of neighbours, environmental harm such as protected habitats or species, damage to 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area or conflict with established national 
and local planning policies. 

 
1.9 In instances where it is considered the breach is minimal, the option exists for the LPA not to 

take action. Part of this assessment is consideration of whether planning permission would 
be likely to be granted should a retrospective planning application be submitted to regularise 
the unauthorised works  

 
1.10 In instances where it is considered the breach is more significant and creates a planning 

harm, the Plan sets out the steps the Local Planning Authority will take to investigate a matter 
and seek to resolve the planning breach.  

 
1.11 The consultation responses sought greater clarification on the score harming criteria, and the 

legal proceedings following the issue of a formal notice. The report has therefore been 
amended to address these issues. It also gave opportunity to amend some of the links to the 
website within the document. 

 
1.12 The key changes to the draft LPEP are: 

 

 Some alterations to the score harming criteria titles for greater clarity, 

 Setting of a 5-day deadline to register and acknowledge new complaints 

 For medium priority cases change the visit time from 20 to 10 working 

 days 

Page 26



  

  

 Insertion of a paragraph about the council not tolerating physical or verbal abuse of its 
planning enforcement staff. 

 Updated the website links for registering of complaints 

 Clarification using examples for the progression of cases and use of formal notices. 

 Creation of a resident’s guide. 
 

1.13 The residents guide will be a useful tool to manage the expectations of complainants with 
regards to the scope of the Council planning enforcement powers and the timescales 
involved. It also includes a section for residents who receive a notice or complaint visit to 
increase their understanding of the process. This is to supplement the main document which 
contains a greater degree of technical information relating to planning enforcement.  

 
1.14 The proposal to adopt the Local Planning Enforcement Plan would comply with national 

guidance and in doing so assist in ensuring any future action taken by the Local Planning 
Authority would be carried out in accordance with established best practice. 

 
2. Issues 
 

2.1 It is good practice to have a robust Local Enforcement Plan in place to support the 
Council’s use of enforcement powers in the Borough and to ensure that development is 
undertaken in accordance with the adopted development plan. 

 
3. Proposal 
 

3.1 To approve the proposed Local Planning Enforcement Plan for introduction and 
implementation in the Borough. 

 
4. Reasons for Proposed Solution 
 

4.1 The proposed update to the Plan will help ensure that the Council has a robust set of 
measures in place in order to effectively undertake enforcement action across the Borough 
in a timely and expedient manner.  

 
5. Options Considered 
 

5.1 Consideration has been given to not updating the Local Enforcement Plan but this would 
leave the Council in a weaker position with regard to any future enforcement action as the 
measures set out in the 2009 plan were no longer appropriate given the emergence of new 
planning policy guidance notably the 2019 NPPF.  

 
6. Legal and Statutory Implications 
 

6.1 The adoption of the Plan should assist in ensuring action taken by the Local Planning 
Authority is in accordance with legislation and therefore minimise opportunities for action to 
be taken against the Council.  

 
6.2 The proposals within the Plan do not raise any new legal risks for the Council. 

 
7. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

7.1 It is not considered that the enforcement process affects an individual or group 
disproportionately in respect of any protected characteristics. Where a party involved in the 
enforcement process either as a complainant or as the person suspected of causing the 
breach, will be offered assistance as appropriate for them to access relevant services. 

 
8. Financial and Resource Implications 
 

Page 27



  

  

8.1 Whilst there are staffing costs associated with the resourcing of the enforcement service and 
the processing of any action taken including prosecution and if necessary direct action, the 
procedures set out in the Local Planning Enforcement Plan do not expose the Council to any 
additional costs. 

 
8.2 Through setting out clear steps for undertaking enforcement action, the risks of abortive 

action should be minimised hence reducing the potential for unnecessary costs to be incurred 
by the Council. 

 
9. Major Risks 
 

9.1 Failure to take undertake appropriate investigation and assessment of potential breaches of 
planning control can result in complaints against the Council escalating to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman Notable or repeat failures to deliver an efficient 
enforcement service may result in criticism by the Ombudsman about the operation of the 
service and therefore subsequent reputational harm. 

 
10. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
 10.1 There are no sustainability or climate change implications. 
 
11. Key Decision Information 
 
 11.1 This report can be considered key in the following ways: - 
 

• It results in the Borough Council committing existing resources for the function to 
which the decision relates and; 

• To be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more electoral wards in the Borough. 

 
12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
 
 12.1 None. 
 
13. List of Appendices 
 
 13.1 Appendix 1 – Proposed Local Planning Enforcement Plan. 
 
14. Background Papers 
 
 14.1 National Planning Policy Framework 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 

 
 14.2 National Planning Policy Guidance 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  
 
 14.3 Newcastle Under Lyme Planning Enforcement Website 
 https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement 
 
 14.4 Existing Newcastle Under Lyme Planning Enforcement Policy 
 https://www.newcastle-

staffs.gov.uk/sites/default/files/IMCE/Planning/Planning%20Enforcement%20Policy.pdf  
 

 

Page 28

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/sites/default/files/IMCE/Planning/Planning%20Enforcement%20Policy.pdf
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/sites/default/files/IMCE/Planning/Planning%20Enforcement%20Policy.pdf


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning & Development 

 

Local Planning Enforcement Plan 

 

June 2020 
 

Page 29



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 1 

 

DOCUMENT STATUS 

 

 

 

CURRENT STATUS: DRAFT 

VERSION: 1.0 

 

DATE: JUNE 2020 

 

 

PREPARED BY:  Shawn Fleet: Head of Planning & Development 

 

 

 

DATE ADOPTED BY COUNCIL: … 

 

APPROVED BY:  Planning Committee: … 

 Cabinet: … 

 

DATE OF NEXT REVIEW: … 

  

Page 30



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 2 

Contents 
 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND OVERALL OBJECTIVES ..................................................................................... 5 

3.0 SERVICE STANDARDS ........................................................................................................................ 7 

4.0 THE PRINCIPLES OF PLANNING ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................... 9 

5.0 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT LEGISLATION ....................................................................................... 11 

6.0 WHAT IS DEVELOPMENT? ............................................................................................................... 12 

7.0 WHAT IS A BREACH OF PLANNING CONTROL? ............................................................................... 13 

8.0 PLANNING HARM ............................................................................................................................ 15 

9.0 ENFORCEMENT PRIORITIES ............................................................................................................. 17 

10.0 PROCEDURES ................................................................................................................................. 19 

11.0 ANONYMOUS ENFORCEMENT ENQUIRIES ................................................................................... 21 

12.0 HOW TO SUBMIT AN ENFORCEMENT COMPLAINT ...................................................................... 22 

13.0 METHODS OF COMMUNICATION ................................................................................................. 23 

14.0 RESPONSE PROCEDURE................................................................................................................. 24 

15.0 THE EXPEDIENCY TEST ................................................................................................................... 26 

16.0 IMMUNITY FROM ENFORCEMENT ACTION .................................................................................. 27 

17.0 HOW THE COUNCIL RESPONDS TO DIFFERENT TYPES OF BREACH .............................................. 28 

18.0 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS ............................................................................................ 31 

APPENDICES .......................................................................................................................................... 34 

APPENDIX 1: ENFORCEMENT TOOLKIT ............................................................................................. 35 

APPENDIX 2: REVIEW OF THE LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN AND COMPLAINTS .............................. 43 

APPENDIX 2: CONTACTING THE COUNCIL ........................................................................................ 44 

APPENDIX 3: REFERENCE SOURCES .................................................................................................. 45 

APPENDIX 4: ENFORCEMENT PLAN RESIDENTS GUIDE .................................................................... 46 

APPENDIX 5: ENFORCEMENT LOG SHEETS ....................................................................................... 62 

 

 

  

Page 31



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 3 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This is our framework for dealing with any alleged breaches of planning control received by the 
Council. Planning enforcement has a vital role in making the Borough a better place for those living, 
working or investing in the Borough. 

 

The Governments Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) published on-line since March 2014 provides 
advice on the role of planning enforcement in the section Ensuring Effective Enforcement. This 
guidance states that that the preparation and adoption of a local enforcement plan is important 
because it: 

• Allows engagement in the process of defining objectives and priorities which are tailored 
to local circumstances; 

• Sets out the priorities for enforcement action, and which will inform decisions about 
when to take enforcement action; 

• Provides greater transparency and accountability about how the local authority will 
decide if it is expedient to exercise its discretionary powers; 

• Provides greater certainty for all parties engaged in the development process 

 

This Local Enforcement Plan has been the subject of public consultation and report to the Councils 
Planning Committee and Cabinet before adoption and is intended to meet these criteria. The plan 
sets out the objectives of the Planning Enforcement Service and the system and principles for the 
exercise of the relevant statutory powers. The local context in the plan includes the natural and 
historic environment. References to “the Act” mean the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended. Other legislation specifically referred to relates to the Equalities Act 2010, Listed Buildings 
and Hedgerows and High Hedges. 

 

Newcastle Under Lyme Borough Council is the responsible Local Planning Authority for the 
enforcement of planning control within the Borough. 

 

There are a range of powers to be exercised in the public interest where a breach of planning control 
is under consideration. The planning system exists to protect the environment and ensure that 
development takes place in accordance with national regulatory requirements and is planned and 
managed to achieve social, economic and environmental objectives. This Plan seeks to promote 
procedures which will manage enforcement issues in an appropriate way for Newcastle, Kidsgrove, 
our villages and the rural areas of the Borough. 

 

Effective enforcement relies to a large degree on efficient and timely communication. Possible 
breaches of planning control; unauthorised works/activities/advertisements on land, buildings, trees 
or hedgerows are brought to notice by members of the public, Council Officers in different 
departments and well as by Planning and Enforcement Officers. An efficient system needs the 
Council’s website to be a helpful source of reference and advice with a robust reporting system 
which is transparent about the decisions taken. References to the PPG section “Ensuring Effective 
Enforcement” are given particularly in Appendix 1 which describes the options and procedures 
available to tackle possible and actual breaches of planning control in a proportionate way. The plan 

Page 32



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 4 

is published on the Council’s web site with an on-line form for reporting planning issues and 
enforcement complaints. 

 

The Plan sets out standards and proposed priorities restating and updating principles of good 
practice enforcement advocated by the Government but adapted to local circumstances. 

 

  

Page 33



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 5 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND OVERALL OBJECTIVES 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) March 2012 advises that Local Planning Authorities 
(Local Planning Authorities) should consider publishing a local enforcement plan to manage 
enforcement proactively, in a way that is appropriate to their area. The Council’s previous Planning 
Enforcement Policy was first published in February 2009 and has been reviewed following changes 
to national policy/guidance for enforcement and operational changes. The Local Enforcement Plan 
(LEP) also confirms the current planning enforcement powers available to the Council. 

 

The Government also published guidance on planning enforcement contained within the Planning 
Practice Guidance in March 2014 which was subsequently updated. Further information which can 
be found via the following web site: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework states: 

 “Effective enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the planning system. 
Enforcement action is discretionary, and local planning authorities should act proportionately in 
responding to suspected breaches of planning control. They should consider publishing a local 
enforcement plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way that is appropriate to their area. This 
should set out how they will monitor the implementation of planning permissions, investigate alleged 
cases of unauthorised development and take action where appropriate.” 

 

In assessing any enforcement case, the Council will give consideration to the national planning policy 
framework (NPPF) and supported by the Planning Practice Guidance, plus policies set out in the 
Council’s Development Plan. These documents are subject to review and this plan will be reviewed 
in light of any new adopted policies as they emerge. 

 

Effective control over unauthorised development protects the environment, the local amenity of 
residents and other people, promotes confidence in the planning system and helps to revitalise our 
Borough. Enforcement is an essential part of the development management process and its integrity 
depends on our readiness to take proportionate enforcement action. Planning enforcement action is 
also discretionary; the Council must judge each case and decide if it is expedient to act (expediency 
is a crucial test in the legislation and its meaning is explored on page 26). 

 

In deciding whether to take enforcement action we must have regard to local and national planning 
policies, in particular, the advice set out in the Council’s Development Plan (see above), and 
Government guidance. 

 

Much of what the Council deals with comes to us through a range of planning enforcement 
complaints. All planning enforcement complaints will be assessed and prioritised according to the 
criteria set out on page 28. 

 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 6 

The Council is committed to the Regulators Code published by the Department for Business 
Innovation and Skill in April 2014 which has replaced the Government’s Enforcement Concordat. This 
document sets out a range of good practice enforcement policies and procedures to deliver best 
practice in regulatory and enforcement work by public bodies. 

  

Page 35



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 7 

3.0 SERVICE STANDARDS 

 

The Council’s existing practices have sought to achieve the principles of good enforcement practice. 
The following standards reflect the overarching principles the Council has adopted with regard to 
inspecting and if appropriate, pursuing enforcement action. These five standards are set out in the 
Regulators Code 

 

1. Regulators Should Carry Out Their Activities In A Way That Supports Those They Regulate To 
Comply And Grow 

The purpose of the planning enforcement process is not to punish those who find themselves 
working outside of the planning framework and the policies of the development plan but to ensure 
inappropriate development does not cause harm. The Council will continue to work with individuals 
and businesses in a manner that assists people in understanding the planning systems and how they 
can best meet their aspirations. 

 

2. Regulators Should Provide Simple And Straightforward Ways To Engage With Those They Regulate 
And Hear Their Views 

We aim to provide information and advice in plain language on the rules and adhere to government 
guidance. We aim to publish on the website supporting technical detail and links to government 
guidance. We will endeavour to keep as much as possible in the public domain whilst protecting 
confidentiality of those who are reporting concerns and possible breaches of the regulations or 
planning conditions. 

 

3. Regulators Should Base Their Regulatory Activities On Risk 

We endeavour to deal with each case on a priority basis following initial investigation to establish 
the facts and refer to records and relevant policies. Depending on the seriousness of the situation, 
we will always seek to afford a contravener the opportunity of remedying the breach of planning 
control without formal action. In considering whether formal action is expedient in planning terms, 
we will have regard to negotiations, any under takings given, the history and whether time limits are 
approaching which would confer immunity on unlawful development. 

 

In prioritising our cases, consideration will be given to the risk of harm that may arise in the 
processing phase. Where there is a potential for irreversible damage to occur to the environment for 
example, enforcement action will be given the highest priority. 

 

4. Regulators Should Share Information About Compliance And Risk 

The Local Planning Authority will work closely with other enforcement organisations to secure 
effective regulation of the planning system, protect the environment and amenity. Consideration 
will always be given to the nature of the information to be shared in these cases to ensure 
confidentiality and data security is maintained. 

 

We endeavour to manage enforcement cases with maximum efficiency and standards procedures, 
making the best use of technology and electronic communication. There are standard documents in 

Page 36



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 8 

the toolkit with government guidance updated from time to time for these various procedures. 
Where discretion is applied against standards, we will adhere to the national and local plan policies 
to achieve as far as possible, a fair and equitable outcome. 

 

5. Regulators Should Ensure Clear Information, Guidance And Advice Is Available To Help Those They 
Regulate Meet Their Responsibilities To Comply 

We aim to be polite but firm with the person/peoples that are alleged to be in breach of planning or 
environment controls. We will meet when requested, both before and during enforcement actions, 
to try and achieve a satisfactory outcome and will keep complainants and Councillors informed of 
key stages in the process. 

 

We already provide significant amounts of information on our website about the planning process 
and enforcement and we will continue to expand on this resource over time. 

 

Dealing with Complaints 

 

In addition to working in accordance with the five criteria set out in the Regulators Guide, the 
Council also takes complaints about the operation of the enforcement service seriously. Opportunity 
exists for complaints to be made about the operation of the enforcement through the Councils 
complaints procedure. Feedback from this will be used to inform future actions and improve the way 
in which the Council delivers this service. 

 

  

Page 37



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 9 

4.0 THE PRINCIPLES OF PLANNING ENFORCEMENT 

 

The use of planning enforcement powers by the Council is discretionary and the carrying out of 
development without planning permission, although unauthorised, is not illegal. Some actions may 
become illegal only following non-compliance with a formal Enforcement Notice. 

 

All alleged breaches of planning control will be investigated by the Council except for anonymous 
complaints, unless there is clear evidence the resulting harm is significant. 

 

The first consideration in any enforcement query is whether there has been a breach of planning 
control (details of breaches of planning control are expanded on later in this document). If there is 
no breach identified, and the developer has only done what they are entitled to as set out in the 
legislation, then the Council cannot take any action at all. 

 

Not all work to land or building involves ‘development’ (see below for an explanation of 
development); for example, works simply amounting to maintenance or repair are not classed as 
development. Furthermore, a large amount of ’development’ has the benefit of automatic planning 
permissions which are granted by the national planning regulations (commonly called ‘permitted 
development rights’). A main part of enforcement work is assessing whether development complies 
with the criteria laid down for these automatic national planning permissions, criteria such as the 
type of development, its size, and its position. 

 

In the first instance, the Council will seek to resolve all breaches of planning control through informal 
negotiation unless the breach is causing or is likely to cause imminent irrevocable harm requiring 
immediate action. This generally occurs in only a very small number of cases. The focus is to achieve 
compliance without resorting to formal proceedings which can be protracted and costly. 

 

Where appropriate, the Council will give reasonable timescales for voluntary compliance through 
removal of the breach or through regularisation before seeking to take formal action. 

 

Legislation does allow planning permission to be sought retrospectively and government guidance 
recommends that local planning authorities seek to regularise potentially acceptable unauthorised 
development through granting planning permission. Where there is a breach of planning control an 
application will be requested by the Council where it believes consent could be granted with 
conditions imposed to satisfactorily control the development. This doesn’t prejudice the future 
decisions of the Council 

 

It should be noted that the Council has to accept all valid applications and determine these even if 
they have not been invited. Instances where an application has been submitted either with or 
without guidance from the Council, formal action will not be taken when there is an undetermined 
valid planning application or appeal awaiting determination except in exceptional circumstances. 
When determining a planning application for non-authorised development, the non- 
authorised/retrospective nature of the development will not influence the planning assessment. 

 

Page 38



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 10 

Any action should be proportionate to the level of harm (see below for explanation of harm) 
involved and should take into account relevant circumstances where it is expedient and necessary to 
do so, i.e. in the public interest. The Council needs to consider whether it is expedient having regard 
to the Council’s Development Plan, National legislation, policies, guidance, any other material 
considerations and whether it’s in the public interest to undertake formal enforcement action to 
remedy breaches of planning control. Expediency will depend on the level of harm caused and the 
likelihood of achieving voluntary compliance. 

 

This decision to undertake formal action cannot be based simply on the notion that planning 
legislation has been infringed. Carrying out work without the necessary planning permission is 
generally not a criminal offence in itself. However, there are exceptions for illegal works to 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings, some Advertisements, works to protected trees 
and demolition of buildings in a Conservation Area. If the LPA takes enforcement action simply 
because there is a lack of a valid planning permission in place, it may be liable to pay the appellants 
costs at appeal. The LPA must be able to demonstrate that harm has been caused by the 
development and that there is significant benefit from taking formal enforcement action. This 
reflects the power to act only when ‘expedient’ to do so and if such action is clearly in the public 
interest. 

 

There is a range of enforcement powers available to the Council to address breaches of planning 
control and the Council will apply the most appropriate power dependant on the circumstances of 
each particular case. 

 

It is unlikely that enforcement action will be pursued where a technical breach of planning control 
has occurred that causes no significant harm. One example would be when development has been 
carried out which is only a slight variation in excess of specified criteria and no harm has been 
caused to amenity, safety or other interests of acknowledged importance notably planning policy. 

 

The Local Planning Enforcement Plan applies to activities carried out via the legislation enforced by 
the Development Management Enforcement Team. The Council also has other powers of 
enforcement in relation to other legislation such as highways, environmental health and public 
protection. This plan does not apply to these powers though contact details are provided in on the 
Councils website. 

 

Planning enforcement action will not be pursued where the matter is addressed through other 
legislation. 

 

People can also perceive harm when it is caused by, for example, a possible loss of value of their 
property, competition from another business, trespass onto their land, or a breach of a restrictive 
covenant. These matters are outside the scope of the planning system, although there may be 
redress through civil law. In such cases, the parties should consult a solicitor or seek advice from a 
Citizens Advice Bureau. 

  

Page 39



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 11 

5.0 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT LEGISLATION 

 

The enforcement activities in this document mainly rely on the following statutes: 

• The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991) 

• The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act1990 (as amended by the 
Planning and Compensation Act 1991) 

• The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
• The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 
• The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 

 

Guidance provided by the Government relating to planning enforcement will also be taken into 
account as and when it is updated or introduced. Information on the different types of Statutory 
Notice, or Enforcement Tools, which are available to formally remedy breaches is given below in 
Appendix 1: Enforcement Toolkit. 

 

Planning legislation exists to control ‘development’ in the public interest and to prevent harm arising 
from ‘development’, which may be the construction or physical alteration of something, or changing 
the use of land and/or buildings. 

 

  

Page 40



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 12 

6.0 WHAT IS DEVELOPMENT? 

 

Planning permission is only needed if the work being carried out meets the statutory definition of 
‘development’ which is set out in Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
Development is defined by the Act as: ‘… the carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other 
operations in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change in the use of any 
buildings or other land’. For the purposes of the legislation building operations includes; 

• demolition of buildings;  
• rebuilding; 
• structural alterations of or additions to buildings; 
• other operations normally undertaken by a person carrying on business as a builder;  
• engineering operations;  
• material changes of use of land and buildings; 
• mining operations or; 
• subdivision of a building (including any part it) used as a dwelling house for use as two or 

more separate dwelling houses 

 

The categories of work that do not amount to ‘development’ are set out in Section 55(2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. These include, but are not limited to the following: 

• interior alterations (except mezzanine floors which increase the floorspace of retail 
premises by more than 200 square metres) 

• building operations which do not materially affect the external appearance of a building. 
The term ‘materially affect’ has no statutory definition, but is linked to 

• the significance of the change which is made to a building’s external appearance. 
• a change in the primary use of land or buildings, where the before and after use falls 

within the same use class. 

 

Activity or work that is not classed as development under Section 55 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 cannot be addressed through the Planning Enforcement Service. The Council will 
use their best endeavours to ensure any queries for work falling outside the definition of 
development is passed on to the relevant Council department. If a third-party organisation is 
required to investigate or pursue action, the Council will use its best endeavours to identify the 
organisation and it will be a matter for the complainant to pursue a complaint directly. 

  

Page 41



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 13 

7.0 WHAT IS A BREACH OF PLANNING CONTROL? 

 

Breaches of planning control vary considerably and could involve such matters as the unauthorised 
erection of a building or extension to a building, a material change of use of land or building, or the 
display of unauthorised advertisements. The following table gives greater guidance on what is and is 
not a breach of planning control. 

The planning breaches which are underlined in Table 1 do carry a criminal liability. Whilst other 
planning breaches are not a criminal offence. 

There are time limits as to when enforcement action can be taken. Action has to be instigated within 
4 years in relation to the erection of buildings or the change of use of a building for use as a single 
dwelling house. In the case of any other breach of planning control, including breach of condition, 
action must be taken within 10 years. There is, however, no time limit for the enforcement of 
breaches in relation to Listed Building legislation. 

 

Table 1: What is a breach of planning control? 

Breach of planning control  NOT a breach of planning control  

• Unauthorised works to a Listed 
Building  

• Unauthorised demolition within a 
conservation area  

• Unauthorised works to a tree within a 
conservation area or subject to a 
preservation order (TPO)  

• Unauthorised advertisements  

• Breaches of planning conditions  

• Not built in accordance with approved 
plans  

• Untidy land affecting the amenity of 
an area  

• Unauthorised engineering works, such 
as alteration to ground levels  

• Unauthorised siting of a caravan or 
mobile home used as an independent 
dwelling house  

• Unauthorised material changes of use 
of land or buildings  

• High Hedges  

• Internal works, excluding change of use to 
a non-listed building 
• Obstruction of a highway 
• Parking of vehicles on highway or grass 
verges 
• Parking of caravans on residential 
driveways or with curtilage of a dwelling, 
where is does not form a separate dwelling 
• Operation of a business where the 
residential use remains the main use of the 
premises 
• Land ownership or boundary disputes 
• Covenants contained on property deeds 
• Works which are ‘permitted development’ 
under the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
as amended. 
• Excepted Advertisements under the Town 
and Country Planning (control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 
as amended. 
• Clearing of land and over growth of bushes 
and non-protected trees. 
• Dangerous Structures 
• Noise disturbance and general pollution 
• Fly Tipping 
• Business competition 
• Blocking of a designated right of way 
• Party Wall Act 
• Loss of Property Value 

Page 42



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 14 

• Loss of View 
• Health and Safety 
• Site security. 

  

Page 43



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 15 

8.0 PLANNING HARM 

 

Planning harm is not defined in the Planning Regulations. The Oxford English Dictionary defines harm 
as: “Physical injury especially that which is deliberately inflicted, material damage, actual or 
potential ill effects or danger”. 

 

Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Guidance advises that formal 
planning enforcement action should be taken when: “There is a clear public interest in enforcing 
planning law and planning regulation in a proportionate way”. Advice contained in now superseded 
Government publication (PPG1 1997) usefully explained that: “The planning system does not exist to 
protect the private interests of one person against the activities of another…. but whether the 
proposal would unacceptably affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings which ought 
to be protected in the public interest”. 

 

Harm caused by unauthorised development can be described as the injury caused to public amenity 
or public safety. Before taking planning enforcement action regard will be made to the policies 
contained within the Councils Development Plan and other material planning considerations. 

 

Harm can include (this is not an exhaustive list) an unacceptable impact on: 

• Planning Policy 
• Visual amenities and the character of the area 
• Privacy/overbearing/daylight/sunlight 
• Noise/smells/pollution such as contamination 
• Access/traffic/Highway safety 
• Health and safety 
• Undesirable precedent 
• Ecology, Trees and Landscape 
• Amenity standards of users of the development 

 

In assessing the degree of harm that is caused will be assessed by the Council using the following 
table.  

 

Where the score is 4 or below, the case will not be investigated further. The owner will be informed 
and invited to remedy or regularise any breach. Complainants will be notified that the development 
causes insufficient harm to warrant further action. 

 

If the score is 5 or greater then it will be progressed for further consideration. An assessment will be 
made of the severity of the case to ensure the most significant cases are dealt with as a soon as 
possible.  

Page 44



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 16 

Harm Scoring and Threshold for Taking Further Action 

Points Allocation  Scoring  Score  

State of breach  
Worsening (1) 

On-going but stable (0)  
  

Highway Safety Issue?  Yes (1) No (0)    

Other safety issue?  Yes (1) No (0)    

Complainant  

Immediate neighbour/ consultee/ 
Councillor (2)   

Other neighbour(1)   

Anonymous/ Malicious (0)  

  

Age of Breach  

Within 6 months of immunity (2)  

Less than 1 month old (1)  

More than 1 month old (0)  

  

Is the harm  

Widespread / Public (2)  

Local (Private) (1)  

None (0)  

  

Irreversible harm?  Yes (1) No (0)    

Causes serious environmental or statutory nuisance  Yes (1) No (0)    

Breach of a condition or Article 4 Direction? (Score 1 
per condition breached max score of 5) consider 
environmental impacts  

Yes (1-5) No (0)    

Operational development or Change of use in Green 
Belt or Major Breach of Planning Policy  

Yes (1) No (0)    

Development affecting contaminated land  Yes (1) No (0)    

Within a Flood Zone  Zone 3 (2); Zone 2 (1); Zone 1 (0)    

Affecting the setting of Conservation Area  Yes (1) No (0)    

Harming a listed building or its setting  Yes (1) No (0)    

Sensitive site e.g. SSSI; SAM; Listed Garden; 
Archaeological importance  

Yes (1) No (0)  
  

Undesirable Precedent (assessing officer to specify)  Yes (1) No (0)    

 Total Points (Harm Score)      

Page 45



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 17 

9.0 ENFORCEMENT PRIORITIES 

 

Planning Enforcement Officers receive a high number of enquiries regarding allegations of breaches 
of planning control every year. To ensure the most serious cases causing the greatest amount of 
harm are investigated with minimal delay, each case is prioritised according to the seriousness of the 
alleged breach and the degree of harm being caused. The aim is that the Council response is fair and 
proportionate to both the context and the nature of the breach. 

 

Many cases may require repeat site visits, negotiation, serving of notices on owners/interested 
parties and more formal action before the breach is resolved. When these occur, the Council will 
endeavour to keep original complainants informed at key stages during the process and indicate 
arrangements for this in the initial response letter. 

 

Complainants will also be provided with an acknowledgement within 5 workings days except for high 
priority cases where the acknowledgement will be within 2 days, this will include the details of the 
lead officer assigned to deal with the enforcement enquiries should they require further updates or 
have new information pertinent to the investigation. 

 

Table 1: Enforcement Priorities 

Priority  Considerations and Example Cases  

High  

Irreversible Harm To The Environment  

  

• Unauthorised works to a listed building  

• Irreversible harm to amenity of a Conservation Area  

• Unauthorised works to trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or 
in a conservation area  

• Works affecting a protected landscape included but not limited to a 
SAC, SSSI or SLINC  

• Any case where the time limit for taking enforcement action expires 

in the near future. 

• Any unauthorised development, advert or breach of condition which 
is causing irreparable public harm or danger; including pollution or 
environmental harm. 

Medium  

Significant Reversible Harm To Amenity or the  

Environment  

  

• Development prior to compliance with the discharging of conditions 
on a planning approval  

Page 46



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 18 

• Breach which results in serious demonstrable harm to amenity of 
neighbourhood  

• Unauthorised development which is in breach of planning policy  

• Source of significant public complaint  

• Unauthorised advertisements that have a detrimental impact on 
highway safety in the view of the Councils Highways service.  

Low  

Minor Reversible Harm To Amenity or the Environment  

  

• Unauthorised development which is not the source of significant 
public complaint  

• Erection of unauthorised advertisements  

 

Table 2: Target Times For Initial Response To Complaint 

Priority  Acknowledgement of 
complaint  

Target time for visiting * Detailed response targets 
to complainant  

High  
95% of cases acknowledged 
within 2 working days 

65% within 1 working day,  

95% within 2 working days 
95% within 5 working days 

Medium  
95% of cases acknowledged 
within 2 working days. 

65% within 5 working days,  

95% within 10 working 
days 

65% of within 10 working 
days,  

95% within 20 working 
days 

Low  
95% of cases acknowledged 
within 2 working days. 

65% within 10 working 
days,  

95% within 20 working 
days 

65% within 15 working 
days,  

95% within 30 working 
days 

 

Enforcement complaints will be assessed and prioritised by the Planning Enforcement Officer or 
Development Control Manager, with supporting advice given by other Departments in the Council or 
Statutory Consultees where deemed necessary. 

 

  

Page 47



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 19 

10.0 PROCEDURES 

 

At all times, staff will follow the principles set out below and will: 

• Act professionally courteously and equitably 

• Endeavour to negotiate a solution to the problem where possible 

• Use plain language 

• Advice following an investigation will be put clearly and simply in writing. All 
letters/electronic mail and notices to unauthorised developers will explain the breach, the 
requirements of the authority to put the matter right including timescales and remind the 
developer of the powers of the authority has to take formal action. Letters will also give contact 
names and telephone numbers to ensure developers are given as much information as is 
possible to help and advice 

• Keep all personal details confidential unless court action or the Freedom of Information 
legislation makes it necessary to release information. 

• Discourage retrospective planning applications when there is no prospect of an approval 

• The rights of appeal against any formal notice will be clearly explained to the person or 
company being investigated. 

• Before any formal action enforcement action is undertaken, an opportunity will be offered 
to comply with planning control or apply for retrospective consent in line with Government 
best practice except in exceptional circumstances. Such circumstance may involve cases where 
the LPA can foresee no reasonable prospect of the development being retrospectively 
approved either with or without conditions or the use of a Section 106 legal agreement to 
control the use of the site.  

• Only take formal enforcement action where there is a breach of planning control, and where 
the action is proportionate and an environmental benefit is likely to result. 

 

To initiate a planning enforcement investigation, complaints should normally be made in writing by 
letter, email to planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk or via the Council’s website at: 
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement 

 

For each case submitted, a case officer will be assigned to deal with the assessment. Depending on 
the outcome of the investigation, the case may be escalated or closed depending on the findings. 
You will be notified of the name of the officer dealing with the case and during the key stages in the 
investigation and assessment. 

 

The Council will not tolerate any physical or verbal abuse towards its planning enforcement officers 
either on site during an inspection, during face to face meetings, via correspondence or online. 
Where necessary the Council will use legal action to prevent abuse, harassment or assaults on its 
Officers. 

 

Concluding a Case 

A case will be considered resolved when: 

 A decision is made that it is not expedient to pursue enforcement action. 

 The matter is being regularised through the application process. Further investigation may 
be necessary on refusal of permission and development remains in breach 

Page 48

mailto:planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 20 

 The breach of development control has ceased. 

 Planning permission has been granted or is being considered. 

 A formal notice is served and is in effect 

 

  

Page 49



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 21 

11.0 ANONYMOUS ENFORCEMENT ENQUIRIES 

 

If enforcement enquiries are submitted without any contact details to enable the Council to seek 
further information or respond back to the person raising an enforcement enquiry, the Council will 
not normally pursue these items.  

 

Anonymous enforcement enquiries will only be investigated if the alleged breach relates to illegal 
works to a Scheduled Ancient Monument, a Listed Building or works to trees which are in a 
Conservation Area or trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order, subject to sufficient information 
to be able to clearly identify the location of where the breach is allegedly being carried out. 

 

An enforcement enquiry will be treated as being anonymous if no details are given or all the contact 
details provided are untraceable. It is beneficial for as many methods of communicating as possible 
are provided. 

 

  

Page 50



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 22 

12.0 HOW TO SUBMIT AN ENFORCEMENT COMPLAINT 

 

All enforcement complaints made should include the following details: 

• The identity and contact details of the complainant 

• The address at which the alleged breach of planning control has taken place 

• A short description of what is alleged to be the breach of planning control 

• Why the complainant feels that the matter involves a breach of planning control 

• When the alleged breach commenced 

• Details of the type of harm considered to be caused by the alleged breach. 

 

The more information that can be provided then the greater the chance any breach can effectively 
be resolved. 

 

Where available, evidence can be submitted to support any complaint. The following forms of 
evidence are commonly accepted: 

• Photographs 

• Video clips 

• Activity logs (blank copy at the end of this document) 

• Notes of events 

• Written statements 

 

The name and address of all complainants is kept confidential. It may be necessary that such details 
are later required to be disclosed for legal reasons but prior approval will be requested if the 
enforcement case progresses through to the Courts. 

 

We understand that sometimes people can feel threatened, particularly in cases which may involve 
keeping a log of the activities of near neighbours. Enquirers who wish to remain anonymous are 
advised to seek support from a Councillor who could act on their behalf and ensure their anonymity. 

 

When an enforcement enquiry is received, it will be registered on the Council’s planning database 
system. In most cases, not all, a site visit may be necessary before the investigating case officer can 
determine whether or not there has been a breach of planning control. 

 

The enquirer will be acknowledged and will be advised which case officer will be dealing with the 
matter and full contact details of that officer will be given. Enquirers may contact the officer for an 
update and they are positively encouraged to do so should they discover any new breaches or any 
material change to an existing complaint. 

  

Page 51



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 23 

13.0 METHODS OF COMMUNICATION 

 

The preferred method of communication is email (excluding temporary email addresses) as this 
allows a written log to be kept of steps taken to resolve any outstanding matter whilst also allowing 
information to be fed back without additional delay.  Alternative methods of communication include 
post and telephone either landline or mobile. 

 

All evidence intended for use in any subsequent enforcement action will need to be submitted to 
the Council in written form either by email or post. Verbal evidence cannot be accepted as 
ultimately, this cannot be presented before a Court if the matter is taken to prosecution. 

 

The Council though does not have the resources in place to conduct an investigation through text or 
social media e.g. WhatsApp, Instagram, Twitter or Facebook. 

 

 

  

Page 52



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 24 

14.0 RESPONSE PROCEDURE 

 

After receipt of an enforcement complaint, the investigating case officer will research the planning 
history of the site and permitted development rights and assess whether or not the enforcement 
enquiry constitutes a breach of planning control. 

 

If there has been no breach of planning control then the case will be closed and the enquirer advised 
of this decision. 

 

Where it is apparent that development has taken place without the relevant valid consent in place, it 
is normal practice to inform the person responsible that they are in breach and to invite an 
application to regularise the development. This will only happen, if such an application could be 
looked upon favourably and follows Government guidance on ensuring effective enforcement. 

 

Where unauthorised development is identified and is not acceptable, the case officer will prepare a 
report to the Planning Committee outlining the planning issues arising from the breach. The report 
may recommend serving a statutory notice. Where necessary, liaison will take place with the 
Council’s solicitors to agree the most appropriate course of action. Those in breach of planning 
control will be informed of the decision to take the matter to the Planning Committee and advised of 
the date of that Committee (as will the enquirers). The requirements of any formal notice will always 
be the minimum required to resolve the breach of planning control. 

 

Summary of actions we will take according to the status of an investigation. 

 

Status of the Investigation  The Council’s Actions  

No breach of planning 
control has been identified  

The Council will write to the complainant to advise them of our 
findings and the investigation will be closed.  

A breach of planning control 
has been identified where it 
is not expedient to take 
action  

The Council will write to the complainant to advise them of its 
findings and provide an explanation as to why no action will be taken 
in this instance. The investigation will be closed.  

A breach of planning control 
has been identified and 
retrospective planning 
application may regularise 
the breach.  

The Council will write to the person responsible for the breach of 
planning control and explain why the works/use require planning 
permission and provide advice on how that permission can be 
obtained.  

  

The Council expects a planning application to be submitted within 28 
days. If an application is not submitted, the Council will decide 
whether it would be expedient to pursue enforcement action.  

Page 53



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 25 

  

The Council will write to the complainant to confirm a  

retrospective planning application is being sort to regularise the 
planning breach  

A breach of planning control 
has been identified and the 
matter needs to be 
addressed.  

The Council will write to the complainant advising of the need for 
action by the owner.  

  

The case will be given a priority level.   

  

The Council will also write to the person(s) responsible for the breach 
to advise them what steps they need to take to address the breach of 
planning control and the timescales within which those steps must be 
taken. The Council will also advise of the consequences of not 
complying with its request.  

Further investigation is 
required.  

The Council will write to the complainant to advise them of its initial 
findings.   

  

The case will be given a priority level and further investigations will 
be undertaken by the case officer.  

  

The Council will write to the person(s) responsible for the breach to 
advise them of the information that it needs. This may involve issuing 
a Planning Contravention Notice (PCN) which must be completed and 
returned to the Council within 21 days.  A PCN may also be issued in 
the above circumstances.  

 

  

Page 54



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 26 

15.0 THE EXPEDIENCY TEST 

 

If a planning application is not submitted to regularise unauthorised works, the Council must then 
decide whether or not it is considered expedient to take formal enforcement action. In making this 
decision, the Council will have due regard to the provisions of the Development Plan and any other 
material considerations, to assess whether the breach causes an unacceptable level of planning 
harm. Matters assessed may include the location of the breach, its visual impact, its effect on 
neighbours' amenity or its impact on highway safety as set out on the scoring sheet above. 

 

The Council considers it will not be expedient to pursue planning enforcement action under the 
following circumstances: - 

 

• where the outcome of any enforcement action would not result in a significant 
environmental gain or benefit 

• Where there is no evidence of a breach of planning control*. 

• permission would be likely to be granted for the development without conditions** 

• where the breach affects Council-owned land or is on the public highway *** 

 

Notes 

* see page 28, dealing with intermittent breaches of planning control 

** those affected will be advised of the need to apply for planning permission and the fact 
that the owner/operator may encounter legal difficulties should they choose to sell  

*** in these cases, the powers available to the council as landowner or as local highway 
authority are likely to be more appropriate and such cases will be passed to the appropriate 
part of the Council for consideration 

 

In some cases, it may be appropriate for Officers to enter into negotiations with the alleged 
contravener to either secure compliance with a condition or permission, or to negotiate changes to a 
development to make it more acceptable in planning terms. These negotiations may negate the 
need for enforcement action. 

 

 

  

Page 55



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 27 

16.0 IMMUNITY FROM ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

 

Planning legislation confirms, some types of development are lawful and immune from enforcement 
action if they have existed for specified periods of time: 

• More than 4 years for a building, or other construction works, external alterations to 
building/construction works and the use of a building as a residence 

• More than 10 years for a change of use of land/buildings or a failure to comply with planning 
conditions on a planning permission. 

• There is no time limit for the enforcement of breaches in relation to Listed Building 
legislation. 

 

Officers will check planning histories, aerial photographs, and other sources, where appropriate, to 
test any claims of immunity. They may also invite comment from those who may know more about 
the issue, for example near neighbours. 

 

If it appears that the development may be immune from enforcement action, then advice will be 
given on the submission of an application for a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use or Development 
(commonly referred to as a “CLEUD”). In such cases, the onus of proof remains with the applicant. If 
no such CLEUD application is made, based on the evidence before the Council, then the case will be 
closed as immune from enforcement, even though the breach has not been formally regularised. 

 

Where evidence is forthcoming that a development has apparently gained immunity from 
enforcement action over time due to deliberate concealment, the Council will look to use Planning 
Enforcement Orders to investigate the matter further. Breaches of control in remote or locations 
infrequently observed by the public but which have not been deliberately concealed e.g. agricultural 
structures or structures in large private gardens would not normally be subject to further scrutiny on 
the basis that its impact is infrequently observed.  

 

  

Page 56



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 28 

17.0 HOW THE COUNCIL RESPONDS TO DIFFERENT TYPES OF BREACH 

 

On-going breaches of planning control 

 

Breaches of planning control involving physical works are easier to observe than occasional breaches 
which are often associated with changes of use. 

 

The Council will seek to prioritise the case depending on the nature of the works and whether they 
are on-going or have been completed. In addition, consideration will be given to whether the 
development is causing any irretrievable harm which maybe increasing due to the presence of the 
breach for example pollution to a sensitive ecological habitat. 

 

The Council will seek to gain evidence of the breach from a number of observation points, including 
neighbouring properties, where permission is granted, to fully and accurately assess the scale of 
harm arising. 

 

Intermittent breaches of planning control 

 

In some cases, it is not possible to determine whether or not there has been a breach of planning 
control because the activities are sporadic. Typically, this can be a business being operated from 
domestic properties, a breach of opening hours restrictions or a low-key change of use of premises. 

 

In these cases, the following sequence will be adopted: 

1) Following the initial site visit, a letter and log sheets will be sent to the complainant 
asking to record activities for a 28-day period and then return the log sheets to the case 
officer; 

2) The log sheets will then be assessed by the case officer, senior planning enforcement 
officer and a Team Leader if deemed necessary; 

3) If there is evidence of a breach of planning control, then a targeted inspection will be 
made to progress the investigation. Investigations like these may mean a number of 
inspections need to be made including outside normal working hours which will require 
authorisation. For these reasons log sheets completed by complainants are essential for 
evidence collecting and hence why they are specifically requested. 

If log sheets are not completed and/or not returned to the case officer then the case will be 
reviewed to see if the necessary information to pursue a case or whether evidence can be secured 
through any other reasonable means. Where this is not possible then the case may potentially be 
closed down. Following investigation of the enforcement complaint, the complainant will be 
informed of the Council’s decision including to close a case if no breach is noted or if insufficient 
evidence can be collected to prove a breach. Where a case is closed the information will be retained 
on file as a record. 

 

Retrospective planning applications 

 

Page 57



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 29 

Requesting a retrospective planning application has the advantage of the Council being able to 
obtain full details of the works that have been carried out and enables interested parties to be 
formally consulted before an informed decision is made. It may also be possible to make 
amendments to the scheme or impose conditions which overcome the concerns of interested 
parties. A period of 28 days will normally be given for such an application to be submitted, although 
this period may be reduced or increased depending on the merits of each case. 

 

Any views or advice given by officers will be informal and will not prejudice the outcome of any 
planning application which is subsequently submitted. Where there are no reasons to oppose the 
development, in the pursuit of expediency the Council may exercise its discretion not to pursue 
enforcement action, as set out on page 26. 

 

Where formal action is required and it will affect a business or commercial interest, full regard will 
be given to the Government’s Enforcement Concordat. Where necessary those in breach will be 
referred to the Council’s Economic Regeneration Officers, in order that efforts may be made to 
minimise the effects of any necessary enforcement action. For example, help in guiding the business 
to an alternative site where the business activity is better suited. 

 

Timescales for compliance with any formal enforcement action will reflect the following: 

• harm arising to the environment, 

• harm to the amenity of the neighbours, 

• needs of the business and impact on staff and customers 

• impact of the enforcement action 

• time needed to remedy the breach. 

 

The Council acknowledge this may be unwelcome to the complainant; however, this judgement 
must be part of the process if enforcement action is taken. If the Council seeks to take a case to 
prosecution through the Courts, consideration will be given to whether the Council has acted in a 
reasonable manner. 

 

If it can be successfully argued by a defendant that the Council has acted in an unreasonable manner 
then the case may be dismissed irrespective of the merits of the case or the harm arising. 

 

For cases where the breach is causing significant harm, the Council will consider whether it is 
expedient to move directly to taking formal enforcement action rather than inviting a planning 
application. The type of enforcement action available for such cases is outlined in in Appendix 1. 

 

When a retrospective planning application is received, it will be determined on its own merits. 
Unless the breach is causing serious harm, it is normal practice to await the determination of the 
planning application before deciding whether to pursue formal enforcement action. The 
enforcement case will remain open until the planning application has been determined. If the 
retrospective planning application is approved, then the enforcement case will be closed subject to 
the applicant’s compliance with any conditions requiring changes to the development to make it 

Page 58



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 30 

acceptable or overcome any harm. If the planning application is refused then the case will remain 
open until the breach is satisfactorily resolved. 

 

  

Page 59



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 31 

18.0 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS 

 

An objective of planning enforcement is resolving problems by negotiation and persuasion. 
However, there are a number of cases which require formal enforcement action to be taken. 

 

Where it is deemed necessary to take such action, the parties will be advised of the action to be 
taken. The owner/operator affected by the notice will also be advised of any rights of appeal and the 
penalties for non-compliance. 

 

The details and definitions of the main types of action are detailed in Appendix 1. In some cases, 
officers can act under delegated powers and in others the case will need to be reported to the 
Planning Committee by the Head of Planning and development for authorisation of enforcement 
action. 

 

Formal Enforcement Action 

The type of enforcement action to be pursued will be dependent on the circumstances of the case. 
The type of action pursued must also be proportionate to the nature of the breach of planning 
control. There are many different forms of enforcement action which are available to the Council 
and these are summarised below in Appendix 1. 

 

In considering whether to pursue enforcement action, the Council must also take into account the 
Human Rights Act 1998 and the Articles contained therein with particular reference to the Right to a 
Fair Trial, the Right to a private family life and the protection of property. 

 

The Council also has a duty to work towards the elimination of unlawful discrimination and to 
promote equality of opportunity and good relations between persons of protected characteristics in 
the carrying out of their functions, in accordance with The Equality Act 2010. 

 

Once the decision has been made to pursue formal enforcement action, the relevant notice will be 
issued by the Council. When a Notice has been issued the relevant Enforcement Public Register is 
updated as a matter of course. If a notice is subsequently complied with the Register is further 
updated. An electronic version of the Enforcement Register can be viewed on the Council’s website 
and this is updated on a quarterly basis. Enforcement notices once served stay with the land in 
perpetuity and do show up on local land charge searches. 

 

Depending on the type of enforcement action pursued, there are various rights of appeal, which may 
suspend the effect of a notice until the appeal is heard. Further information on this is contained 
within Appendix 1. 

 

Formal notices, give the person responsible for the breach, a specified time limit in which to remedy 
the breach or provide relevant information for consideration in the investigation. 

 

Page 60



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 32 

Once this time period has expired the case officer will check whether the notice has been complied 
with. Then depending on the nature of the notice, this will shape how the investigation proceeds.  
For example, if the notice is a PCN, the information within it may confirm a planning breach and an 
Enforcement Notice will then be served and the case continues. 

 

If the planning breach is resolved, no further action will be taken by the Authority and the file will be 
closed. 

 

If, however, the notice has not been complied with, the case officer, liaising with the Council’s 
solicitor, and having regard to the constitution consider whether or not to prosecute as this is a 
criminal offence. The Council could utilise stop notices or temporary stop notices to cease a use or 
building operation.  In some cases, such as Section 215 notices, the Council may take Direct Action, 
also known as Default Action to secure compliance. These forms of action are explained in more 
detail in Appendix 1 

 

Prosecutions 

Failure to comply with any requirement of a statutory notice is usually a criminal offence and the 
Council will normally take legal action in such cases. 

 

Where breaches of planning control lead to criminal offences being heard in Court, officers will 
ensure that all relevant evidence is put before the Court and that the disclosure obligations are 
complied with. The decision to prosecute will also take account of the evidential and public interest 
tests. 

 

All prosecution action will be taken in accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 as 
amended (PACE). 

 

Where it is considered in the public interest to do so, the Council is likely to make a costs application 
to the Court in order to recover its expenses in pursuing prosecution cases. 

 

In the event of legal proceedings, a successful outcome may depend upon the willingness of 
complainants to appear as witnesses at Court. Whilst during the investigation period the 
complainant’s details are kept confidentially, in order to act as a witness this anonymity is waivered. 

 

Where a criminal offence has occurred, and the Defendant(s) has been found guilty, the Local 
Planning Authority may request that the Court makes a Confiscation Order under the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002. The Confiscation Order will relate to any financial benefit arising from a criminal 
activity. 

 

Direct Action 

There are a small number of cases where Statutory Notices are issued and not complied with and 
successful legal proceedings fail to resolve the breach. Similarly, there are cases where prosecution 
will clearly not be effective. 

Page 61



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 33 

 

Provision is made for the Council to take direct action in certain circumstances, to enter the land and 
remedy the problem (Town and Country Planning Act 1990, under section 178 and section 219) 

 

Direct action will be only be taken after full consultation has been taken with all relevant parties 
(and this will depend on the nature of the case) and only if authorisation has been given by the 
Planning Committee. Reports to Planning Committee on such matters will be considered in private 
session in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 to ensure that the case is not prejudiced. 

 

If direct action is taken the cost to the Council can be considerable. A charge in favour of the Council 
for the cost of the action will be registered on the land to ensure that money raised by any future 
sale will be used to recoup the Council’ costs. Other actions to recover the money will be considered, 
where appropriate. 

 

  

Page 62



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 34 

APPENDICES 

 

APPENDIX 1: ENFORCEMENT TOOLKIT 

 

APPENDIX 2:  REVIEW OF THE LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN 

 

APPENDIX 3:  REFERENCE SOURCES 

 

APPENDIX 4:  LOCAL PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PLAN RESIDENTS GUIDE 

 

APPENDIX 5:  ENFORCEMENT LOG SHEETS 

  

Page 63



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 35 

APPENDIX 1: ENFORCEMENT TOOLKIT 

 

The following section of this Local Enforcement Plan provides a summary of the various tools 
available to deal with alleged breaches of planning control. The Local Planning Authority must 
assess, in each case, which power (or combination of powers) is best suited to dealing with any 
particular anticipated/apprehended, or actual, breach of control to achieve a satisfactory, lasting 
and cost effective remedy, having regard to the circumstances of the case. 

 

It should also be noted that the type of enforcement action taken should be commensurate and 
proportionate with the breach of planning to which it relates. 

 

OBTAINING INFORMATION 

There are three ‘requisition’ powers for planning enforcement purposes: 

• Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

• Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

• Section 171C of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

 

Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended): Request for Information (RFI) 

This power may be used in order to obtain relevant information at an early stage of the enforcement 
process. It involves serving a notice on either the occupier of the premises or the person receiving 
rent for the premises. This form of notice may also be used for investigating enforcement under the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

Section 16 of Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

These provisions are primarily intended to enable an authority to establish the facts about 
ownership of land. 

 

Section 171C of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended): (Planning Contravention 
Notice) 

The main method for Local Planning Authorities to obtain information about activities on land, when 
it appears to the Local Planning Authority that a breach of planning control has occurred, is to serve 
a Planning Contravention Notice (PCN). A PCN takes the form of a series of questions relating to the 
suspected breach of planning control. It is an offence to fail to respond to the notice within 21 days, 
or to make false or misleading statements in reply.  

 

The intention of the Council in issuing a PCN is also to send a clear warning that further formal action 
is being considered. Failure to provide the information required by a PCN can result in a fine of up to 
£1,000 whilst provide false information can result in a fine of up to £5,000. 

 

This notice however is not available for use in respect of suspected works to Listed Buildings or 
protected trees. 

Page 64



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 36 

 

POWERS OF ENTRY FOR ENFORCEMENT PURPOSES: Sections 178(1) and 219 Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

In addition to the investigative powers outlined above, case officers also have powers to enter land, 
specifically for enforcement purposes. This right is limited to what is regarded as necessary, in the 
particular circumstances, for effective enforcement of planning control. A notice period of at least 24 
hours is required before entry can be demanded to a dwelling house. Prior notice is not required for 
access to domestic outbuildings or garden land, industrial, commercial or farmland. 

 

A new Code of Practice introduced in April 2015 recommends that contact should be made with 
owners/occupiers before exercising powers of entry, unless it is impracticable to do so or would 
defeat the purpose of the inspection. The full version of the code can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/powers-of-entry-code-of-practice 

 

Powers of entry also exist in accordance with a warrant, and procedures in respect of those matters 
can also be found within the above Code of Practice. 

 

DEFAULT POWERS AND DIRECT ACTION – Sections 178(1) and 219 Town & Country Planning Act 
1990  

The Council may enter land and carry out required works to secure compliance when an 
Enforcement Notice is in effect but has not been complied with. There is no requirement to give 
notice to either the owner or occupier of the land, although it is good practice to do so. In some 
circumstances the Council can enter land to carry out remedial works and recover costs incurred 
from the land owner. Such expenses, until recovered, become a charge on the land, binding on the 
successive owner. 

 

ADDITIONAL SURVEILLANCE METHODS 

Currently, the Council does not utilise evidence gathered through CCTV techniques including street 
based cameras, body cameras or drone footage. Legislation in these areas through is subject to 
change and importantly, the cost of acquiring and utilising such resources is also changing.  

 

The use of such evidence gathering techniques will therefore be kept under review and future 
reviews of this Plan may provide further information on how the Council utilises such sources of 
information.  

 

The use of CCTV filming will be reviewed through the Councils separate CCTV Policy  

 

ENFORCEMENT MEASURES 

 

The following section refers to types of formal enforcement action which may be taken by the Local 
Planning Authority in order to require a particular use or development to cease or for works to be 
removed or modified: 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/powers-of-entry-code-of-practice


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 37 

 

Where it is considered enforcement action is appropriate, the Council has a range of legal powers it 
can utilise. Some of the more stringent measures have counter balances which a person who has 
been served with a notice can use to seek redress if they believe the Council has either not examined 
the details of the case fully or is in exceedance of its powers.  

 

These rights may result in costs awards being made against the Council if it were to be found to have 
pursued enforcement action with a weak case or even flawed case which in turn would impact on 
the wider Council budget.  

 

BREACH OF CONDITION NOTICE (BCN) – Section 187A Town & Country Planning Act 1990  

Used as an alternative to an Enforcement Notice but only in circumstances where there has been a 
failure to comply with conditions attached to a planning permission. The BCN must specify details of 
the breach and the steps required to secure compliance. A minimum period of 28 days must be 
given for compliance. There is no right of appeal to the Secretary of State. . It does not apply to 
breaches of conditions attached to listed building consent or advertisement consent. Failure to 
comply with a BCN can result in a fine of up to £1,000. 

 

ENFORCEMENT NOTICE - Section 172 Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

An Enforcement Notice can only be served when the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that there 
has been a breach of planning control and when it is considered expedient to do so. An Enforcement 
Notice requires specific steps to be taken which may include a use to cease or for a structure to be 
removed. It must also specify the period for compliance. 

 

An Enforcement Notice must contain an explanation of the reasons it is being issued. The reasons 
should be carefully considered and be specific to the case. Failure to comply with an Enforcement 
Notice is a criminal offence. 

 

The recipient of an Enforcement Notice has a right to appeal to the Secretary of State. Such an 
appeal will suspend the effect of the Notice until the appeal is determined. If an appeal is lodged all 
complainants and interested parties will be advised of the appeal details and how to make 
representations. Failure to comply with an Enforcement Notice can result in a fine of up to £20,000. 

 

LISTED BUILDING ENFORCEMENT NOTICE: Section 7 Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 

A Local Planning Authority may serve a Listed Building Enforcement Notice if unauthorised works 
have been or are being carried out to a listed building. Like an Enforcement Notice the recipient of 
this type of Notice has a right to appeal to the Secretary of State. 

 

STOP NOTICE: Section 183 Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

When the effects of unauthorised activity are seriously detrimental, a Stop Notice may be served to 
ensure that an activity does not continue if an appeal is lodged against the Enforcement Notice. A 
Stop Notice can only be served where an Enforcement Notice has been issued. A Stop Notice can 

Page 66



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 38 

relate to any, or all, of the uses or activities specified in the Enforcement Notice. It does not apply to 
works to a Listed Building. 

 

It is an offence to contravene a Stop Notice. Whilst there is no right of appeal against a Stop Notice, 
the validity of a Notice or the decision to issue the Notice can be challenged in the Courts by an 
application for Judicial Review. Failure to comply with a Stop Notice can result in a fine of up to 
£20,000. 

 

TEMPORARY STOP NOTICE: Section 171E Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

Where the Local Planning Authority considers that a breach of planning control should stop 
immediately it may serve a Temporary Stop Notice. Such a notice expires 28 days after it has been 
served and during this period the Council must decide whether it is appropriate to take further 
enforcement action. Once a Temporary Stop Notice has been served it is not possible to serve 
further Temporary Stop Notices for the same breach of planning control. 

 

There are restrictions on the use of temporary stop notices; for example, such a notice cannot 
prohibit the use of a building as a dwelling house and may not prevent the continuance of an activity 
which had been carried out for a period of four years. Failure to comply with a Temporary Stop 
Notice can result in a fine of up to £20,000. 

 

DISCONTINUANCE NOTICE 

The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) Regulations enable a Local Planning 
Authority to take discontinuance action against any advertisement, which normally has the benefit 
of any of the categories of deemed consent. 

 

A Discontinuance Notice may only be served if the planning authority is satisfied it is necessary to do 
so to remedy a substantial injury to the amenity of the locality or a danger to members of the public. 
There is a right of appeal against a Discontinuance Notice. 

 

SECTION 215 NOTICES /UNTIDY LAND NOTICE: Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

Under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act, a Local Planning Authority may serve a 
notice on the owner or occupier of the land, if it appears that the amenity of a part of their area, or 
an adjoining area is adversely affected by the condition of the land. A Section 215 notice may deal 
with ‘buildings’ as well as land. There is an appeal provision, where the recipient may challenge the 
notice in the Magistrate’s Court. 

 

Dilapidated buildings may also be open to action under the Building Act 1984 and these cases will be 
referred to Building Control immediately following a site inspection. These are frequently also 
vacant, and can quickly generate a lot of concern for neighbours. The issues vary a lot between 
different sites, and the Council needs to decide whether or not the land and/or buildings are 
detrimental to the amenity of the area (as this is the test set out in the legislation). 

 

High priority cases may, for example, be where: 

Page 67



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 39 

• A significant part of the land or the exterior of the building is seriously visually damaging to 
the area (for example the roof and the façade may be damaged or missing, or demolition 
rubble left in place) 

AND 

• The land is in a prominent location 

 

It will not normally be possible to take action simply because the building is not secure or because of 
the presence of graffiti. Nor will it be possible to take action where the problem relates to the 
accumulation of a small amount of materials that may attract vermin. In these cases other parts of 
the Council may be able to act. Where a referral is considered necessary, this will be done as soon as 
possible. 

 

COMPLETION NOTICE: Section 94 Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

A Completion Notice may be served if the Local Planning Authority is of the opinion that 
development (which has started within the statutory 3-year period) will not be completed within a 
reasonable period. For this type of Notice, the period for compliance has to be a minimum of 12 
months. The Local Planning Authority must also refer the Notice to the Secretary of State for 
confirmation. There is a right of appeal against a Completion Notice. 

 

INJUNCTION: Section 187B Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

A Local Planning Authority can apply to the High Court or County Court for an Injunction to restrain 
an actual or apprehended breach of planning control. An Injunction can be sought whether or not 
other enforcement action has been taken and when the identity of the person responsible for the 
breach is unknown. 

 

When a planning obligation (Section 106 agreement) has not been complied with the Council may 
apply for an Injunction to secure compliance with the legal agreement. A Local Planning Authority 
may also apply for an injunction to restrain a breach or apprehended breach of tree preservation or 
Listed Building control. 

 

The decision whether to grant an injunction is always in the absolute discretion of the Court. The 
Court will need to be satisfied in the case of every injunction application that enforcement action in 
this form is proportionate. 

 

TREES (CONSERVATION AREAS/PRESERVATION ORDERS) – Sections 210 and 211 Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

In the case of protected trees, it is a criminal offence to: 

• Cut down, uproot or wilfully destroy a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) or; 

• Wilfully damage, top or lop a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order in a way that is 
likely to destroy it. 

 

Page 68



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 40 

If any of these works are carried out, the Council must decide whether or not to prosecute. A Local 
Planning Authority may issue a Tree Replacement Notice requiring the owner to plant a tree or trees 
of appropriate size and species if a tree has been removed in contravention of a TPO or if a 
protected tree has been removed because it was dead or dangerous. 

 

The cutting down, topping, lopping, uprooting, wilful damage, or wilful destruction of trees within a 
Conservation Area is also a criminal offence. A Tree Replacement Notice can also be served in 
respect of the unauthorised removal of tree(s) in a Conservation Area. An appeal can be lodged 
against a Tree Replacement Notice 

 

HEDGEROW REPLACEMENT NOTICE 

It is a criminal offence to intentionally or recklessly uproot or otherwise destroy a hedge protected 
by the Hedgerows Regulations 1997 (which includes hedgerows on or adjacent to agricultural, 
equine or common land etc.). If any of these works are carried out, the Council must decide whether 
or not to prosecute. 

 

A Local Planning Authority may issue a Hedgerow Replacement Notice requiring the owner to 
replant a hedgerow of appropriate size and species if a hedgerow has been removed in 
contravention of these Regulations. An appeal can be lodged against a Hedgerow Replacement 
Notice. 

 

HIGH HEDGE REMEDIAL NOTICE 

The Local Planning Authority may issue a High Hedge Remedial Notice if an evergreen/semi 
evergreen hedge is found to be a ‘nuisance’ when assessed in accordance with the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003, part 8, High Hedges. If an owner or occupier of the land where the hedge is 
located fails to comply with the Notice the owner or occupier will be guilty of an offence. An appeal 
can be lodged against a High Hedge Remedial Notice. 

 

 

LEGAL AGREEMENTS 

Legal agreements under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act can be used to restrict 
development or the use of land. They may also be used to require specific operations or activities to 
be carried out. The advantage of this approach is that the legal agreement goes with the land and 
not an individual and therefore remains in perpetuity. 

 

Should a site be sold on, the requirements of the legal notice have to be taken on by the new 
owners. The requirements of the notice also apply is the land is rented or leased. 

 

SECTION 225A: REMOVAL NOTICES 

Section 225A allows a Local Planning Authority to remove, and then dispose of, any display structure 
in their area which, in the Local Planning Authority’s opinion, is used for the display of 
advertisements in contravention of the regulations. This power is subject to the Council first serving 

Page 69



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 41 

a ‘Removal Notice’ upon the persons who appear to be responsible for the structure. There is a right 
of appeal against a Removal Notice to the Magistrate’s Court. 

 

In 2014 new powers were introduced for Councils through the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014. Those powers which can be used to deal with planning enforcement enquires 
relating to the following: 

• illegal hoardings; 

• fly-posting; 

• graffiti; and 

• unauthorised advertisements alongside highways. 

 

COMMUNITY PROTECTION NOTICE (CPN): Section 43 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 
2014 

This can be used where the behaviour of a person, business or organisation is considered to have a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality. The behaviour has to be of a 
persistent or continuing nature. This form of action can be used as an alternative approach to 
Section 215 notices referred to above. There is a right of appeal and the failure to comply with a CPN 
is a criminal offence. 

 

In April 2012 new powers were introduced through the Localism Act 2010 which includes the 
following requirements: 

• someone to stop doing specified things 

• someone to do specified things 

• someone to take reasonable steps to achieve specified results. 

 

Due to their wide scope, CPN’s can be issued by a number of departments in the Councils and each 
case will be determined on the particular circumstances. 

 

DECLINE TO DETERMINE A RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION: Section 70C Town & Country Planning Act 
1990: 

A Local Planning Authority may decline to determine a retrospective application for development 
which is the subject of an Enforcement Notice served after 6 April 2012. 

 

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT ORDER (PEO) – Section 124 Localism Act 2011 (and Section 171B Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990  

Where there has been deliberate concealment of a breach of planning control, the LPA may apply to 
the Magistrates’ Court for a planning enforcement order. Once granted the LPA can serve an 
enforcement notice. The 4 year and 10 year periods for immunity will not apply in cases of 
concealed breach. An application for a PEO must be made within 6 months of the LPA becoming 
aware of the breach and having sufficient information to justify enforcement action being taken. 

 

ADVERTISEMENTS – Section 224 Town & Country Planning (Control of Advertisements)(England) 
Regs 2007  

Page 70



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 42 

It is an offence to display an advertisement in contravention of the above. When deciding on action 
the Council will consider factors such as amenity or public safety 

  

Page 71



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 43 

APPENDIX 2: REVIEW OF THE LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN AND COMPLAINTS 

 

This document will be reviewed annually to ensure that it remains current and consistent with best 
practice. Reviews will take into account any changes to current legislation and/or guidance and also 
comments received from residents, customers, businesses and visitors to the Borough. 

 

To enable continuous improvement of the enforcement function, the key elements of this Local 
Enforcement Plan will be reviewed. These key elements include: 

• relevant policies 

• type of breaches of planning control 

• resources available 

• procedures for investigating complaints 

• tools available to enforce breaches of planning control 

 

The operational review of these elements will enable the Council to identify where best to target 
resources and meet the obligations imposed upon changing legislation, procedures and practices. 

 

The Council will strive to provide the highest possible quality of service delivered in a fair and 
consistent manner. Customer suggestions are therefore, welcome as to how we can make 
improvements to the planning enforcement process. Alternatively, problems may arise from time to 
time and any difficulties concerning the enforcement service should be brought in the first instance 
to the attention of the Area Planning Manager. 

 

If still dissatisfied a further complaint can be submitted through the Council’s formal complaints 
procedure and the Local Government Ombudsman. Details of both are available on the Council’s 
website. Please be aware however, that such a complaint must relate to the way in which the 
complaint has been handled as opposed to the final decision reached.  

 

 

  

Page 72



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 44 

APPENDIX 2: CONTACTING THE COUNCIL 

 

Help us to help you 

 

We are constantly looking at ways to improve our services and welcome comments on this 
Enforcement Policy and any other matter relating to our Service. Contact details are given below: 

 

By Post 

Development Management Service 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 

Castle House 

Barracks Road 

Newcastle-under-Lyme 

Staffordshire 

ST5 1BL 

 

To ensure your complaint is immediately logged into our enforcement system please use the 
Council’s on-line form at:  

https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement  

 

Alternatively you may submit your complaint is submitted by E-mail. As this service requires 
additional data handling to enter the complaint into the system, please allow an addition two 
working days for the case to be registered: planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk  

 

We cannot register complaints made verbally as we require written evidence of a complaint to 
present to the courts if we proceed to prosecution in in any matter. You can however speak to use 
about the possibility of submitting a complaint or to enquire about an ongoing matter by telephone: 
01782 742408 

 

Advice on how to make an enquiry about unauthorised development or what to do if you carry out 
works or a change of use without planning permission can be obtained from the Councils Planning 
web site at: https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-
applications/planning-applications-forms  

  

Page 73

https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement
mailto:planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-applications/planning-applications-forms
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-applications/planning-applications-forms


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 45 

APPENDIX 3: REFERENCE SOURCES 

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf  

 

National Planning Policy Guidance 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement  

 

Newcastle Under Lyme Planning Policies 

https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-policy/joint-local-plan  

 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 and 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) as amended. 

 

Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements)(England) Regulations 2011. 

 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. 

 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

• Article 1 of the First Protocol – protection of property 
• Article 6 - the right to a fair trial 
• Article 8 – right to respect for family life; and home 
• Article 14 – protection from discrimination 

 

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984; as amended. 

 

Localism Act 2011. 

 

General Permitted Development Order 2015; as amended. 

 

  

Page 74

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement
https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-policy/joint-local-plan


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 46 

APPENDIX 4: ENFORCEMENT PLAN RESIDENTS GUIDE 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning & Development 

 

Local Planning Enforcement Plan 

 

Residents Guide 

 

June 2020 

  

Page 75



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 47 

 

CONTENTS 

 

1.0  WHAT IS PLANNING ENFORCEMENT  

2.0  BREACHES OF PLANNING CONTROL  

3.0  HOW TO MAKE AN ENFORCEMENT ENQUIRY  

4.0  TIMESCALES   

5.0  PLANNING ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS  

6.0  PLANNING ENFORCEMENT POWERS 

7.0  WHAT IF A COMPLAINT IS MADE ABOUT YOUR PROPERTY OR DEVELOPMENT? 

8.0  PHYSICAL AND VERBAL ABUSE TOWARDS OFFICERS   

9.0  FURTHER INFORMATION 

  

Page 76



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 48 

1.0 WHAT IS PLANNING ENFORCEMENT 

 

This is a guide for residents and the local community to greater understand the Planning 
Enforcement procedures and the approach of the Council to alleged planning breaches. 

 

The planning system operates to regulate development and the use of land. It has regard to the 
development plan, other material planning considerations and the community interest.  Planning 
enforcement is a technically and legally complex element of the planning system, which means that 
action is not always straight forward. Whilst the investigation of an enquiry is mandatory, 
enforcement action is a discretionary power of the Local Planning Authority and not all breaches of 
planning control result in formal enforcement action. 

 

To ensure that the community can have confidence in the planning system there needs to be effective 
and proper enforcement of planning controls. Fair and effective planning enforcement is therefore 
important to protect the quality of life for the people who live and work in Newcastle Under Lyme, 
and the quality of the Boroughs built and natural environment. The Council’s focus will be on these 
cases where the impacts are significant and or irreversible. 

 

 

  

Page 77



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 49 

2.0 BREACHES OF PLANNING CONTROL 

 

2.1 What is a breach of planning control? 

 

Breaches of planning control can vary considerably and could involve matters such as the 
unauthorised erection of a building or extension of a building, a material change of use of land or a 
building or the display of unauthorised advertisements.  The following table gives greater guidance 
on what is and is not a breach of planning control. 

 

The planning breaches which are underlined in table 1 do carry a criminal liability. Whilst other 
planning breaches are not a criminal offence. 

 

There are time limits as to when enforcement action can be taken. Action has to be instigated within 
4 years in relation to the erection of buildings or the change of use of a building for use as a single 
dwelling house. In the case of any other breach of planning control, including breach of condition, 
action must be taken within 10 years. There is, however, no time limit for the enforcement of 
breaches in relation to Listed Building legislation. 

 

Table1: What is a breach of planning control? 

 

Breach of planning control  NOT a breach of planning control  

• Unauthorised works to a Listed 
Building  

• Unauthorised demolition within a 
conservation area  

• Unauthorised works to a tree within a 
conservation area or subject to a 
preservation order (TPO)  

• Unauthorised advertisements  

• Breaches of planning conditions  

• Not built in accordance with approved 
plans  

• Untidy land affecting the amenity of an 
area  

• Unauthorised engineering works, such 
as alteration to ground levels  

• Unauthorised siting of a caravan or 
mobile home used as an independent 
dwelling house  

• Internal works, excluding change of use to 
a non-listed building 

• Obstruction of a highway 

• Parking of vehicles on highway or grass 
verges 

• Parking of caravans on residential 
driveways or with curtilage of a dwelling, 
where is does not form a separate dwelling 

• Operation of a business where the 
residential use remains the main use of the 
premises 

• Land ownership or boundary disputes 

• Covenants contained on property deeds 

• Works which are ‘permitted development’ 
under the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
as amended. 

• Excepted Advertisements under the Town 
and Country Planning (control of 

Page 78



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 50 

• Unauthorised material changes of use 
of land or buildings  

• High Hedges  

Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 
as amended. 

• Clearing of land and over growth of bushes 
and non-protected trees. 

• Dangerous Structures 

• Noise disturbance and general pollution 

• Fly Tipping 

• Business competition 

• Blocking of a designated right of way 

• Party Wall Act 

• Loss of Property Value 

• Loss of View 

• Health and Safety 

• Site security. 

 

  

Page 79



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 51 

3.0 HOW TO MAKE AN ENFORCEMENT COMPLAINT 

 

3.1 Making an enforcement complaint 

 

It is useful when raising a complaint to include as much detail relating to the breach as possible, 
including the exact location of the site or property, the nature of the breach and the harm it is 
causing. 

 

To assist the Council and prevent, misunderstandings it is preferred for enquiries to be submitted 
online at: https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement or by 
emailing: planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 

 

The following information is necessary to conduct an enforcement enquiry: 

• Your name, address, email and phone number 
• Location/address of the complaint, where the planning breach is occurring 
• Details of the complaint, including when it started 
• Details of the harm that is occurring due to the breach 

 

The fullness of these details is important in enabling officers to prioritise enquiries. In some cases, we 
may ask you to submit evidence of the breach such as activity logs, photographs, notes of events. 

 

If we do not receive sufficient information about an enquiry, for example the location, then we may 
not be in the position to accept the enquiry. 

 

3.2 Confidentiality 

 

The name and address of all complainants is kept confidential. We require contact information in 
order to keep you informed of the process and to contact you to assist use in our investigation.  It 
may be necessary for legal reasons such as Freedom of Information requests that details need to be 
disclosed, however this information will only be revealed if the information is shown to be in the 
public interest. 

 

Whilst we do accept anonymous enquiries, these are not priorities. If you feel threatened and 
therefore unable to provide your details it is recommended to seek support from your Local Councillor 
who can act on your behalf and protect your anonymity. 

 

3.3 Methods of communication 

 

The Council prefers to use email as this allows for a written log of the steps taken to resolve matters, 
and allows for information to be fed back without delay. 

 

Page 80

https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement
mailto:planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 52 

3.4 How enquiries will be dealt with 

 

At all times, staff will follow the principles set out below and will: -  • Act professionally courteously 
and equitably 

• Negotiate a solution to the problem where possible 
• Use plain language 
• Be available to handle queries during normal office hours 
• Keep all personal details confidential, unless court action or the Freedom of Information 
legislation makes it necessary to release information. 
• Discourage retrospective planning applications when there is no prospect of an approval 
• Only take formal enforcement action where there is a breach of planning control, and where 
the action is proportionate and significant benefit is likely to result. 

 

  

Page 81



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 53 

4.0 TIMESCALES 

 

All enquiries will be registered and acknowledged within 5 working days, with the exception of High 
Priority cases.  You will receive confirmation of the enforcement case number and the officer dealing 
with your enquiry. 

 

Given the large number of enquiries received it is necessary to prioritise cases. Site visits will be 
undertaken within with 24 hours or 30 days depending on the priority of the enquiry.  Table 2 below 
details the priority bandings. 

 

Following the visit, you will be notified of the course of action that the Local Planning Authority 
intends to take next. 

 

Table 2: Enforcement Priorities 

Priority  Considerations  

  

Target 
time for 
visiting   

Response 
time to 
enquirer  

High  

  

Irreversible Harm to The Environment   

• Unauthorised works to a listed building  

• Irreversible harm to amenity of a 
Conservation Area  

• Unauthorised works to trees covered by a 
Tree Preservation Order or in a conservation area  

• Works affecting a protected landscape 
included but not limited to a SAC, SSSI or SLINC  

24 hours  

  

Within 3 
working days  

Page 82



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 54 

Medium  Significant Reversible Harm to Amenity or the 
Environment   

• Development prior to compliance with the 
discharging of conditions on a planning approval  

• Breach which results in serious 
demonstrable harm to amenity of 
neighbourhood  

• Unauthorised development which is in 
breach of planning policy   

• Source of significant public complaint  

• Unauthorised advertisements that have a 
detrimental impact on highway safety in the view 
of the Councils Highways service.  

Within 10 
working 
days  

  

Within 28 
working days   

Low   Minor Reversible Harm to Amenity or the  

Environment   

• Unauthorised development which is not 
the source of significant public complaint  

• Erection of unauthorised advertisements 

Within 30 
working 
days  

  

Within 40 
working days   

 

  

Page 83



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 55 

5.0 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS 

 

An objective of planning enforcement is resolving problems by negotiation and persuasion. However, 
there are a number of cases which require formal enforcement action to be taken. Where it is 
deemed necessary to take such action, the parties will be advised of the action to be taken. The 
owner/operator affected by the notice will also be advised of any rights of appeal and the penalties 
for non-compliance. 

The Council has adopted a harm assessment form which provides a ‘score system’ to assist in the 
prioritisation of cases and help to determine whether it would be expedient to pursue an identified 
breach of planning control, on a case by case basis. Cases which score below a specified threshold 
will not normally be pursued, though a retrospective planning application may be invited. 

 

Table 3: Planning Enforcement Actions 

Status of the 
Investigation  

The Council’s Actions  

No breach of planning 
control has been 
identified  

The Council will write to the complainant to advise them of our 
findings and the investigation will be closed.  

A breach of planning 
control has been 
identified where it is 
not expedient to take 
action  

The Council will write to the complainant to advise them of its 
findings and provide an explanation as to why no action will be 
taken in this instance. The investigation will be closed.  

A breach of planning 
control has been 
identified and 
retrospective planning 
application may 
regularise the breach.  

The Council will write to the person responsible for the breach of 
planning control and explain why the works/use require planning 
permission and provide advice on how  permission can be applied 
for.  

  

The Council expects a planning application to be submitted 
within 28 days. If an application is not submitted, the Council will 
decide whether it would be expedient to pursue enforcement 
action.  

  

The Council will write to the complainant to confirm a 
retrospective planning application is being sought to regularise 
the planning breach  

Page 84



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 56 

A breach of planning 
control has been 
identified and the 
matter needs to be 
addressed.  

The Council will write to the complainant advising of the need for 
action by the owner.  

  

The case will be given a priority level.   

  

The Council will also write to the person(s) responsible for the 
breach to advise them what steps they need to take to address 
the breach of planning control and the timescales within which 
those steps must be taken. The Council will also advise of the 
consequences of not complying with its request.  

Further investigation is 
required.  

The Council will write to the complainant to advise them of its 
initial findings.   

  

The case will be given a priority level and further investigations 
will be undertaken by the case officer.  

  

The Council will write to the person(s) responsible for the breach 
to advise them of the information that it needs. This may involve 
issuing a Planning Contravention Notice (PCN) which must be 
completed and returned to the Council within 21 days.  A PCN 
may also be issued in the above circumstances.  

 

 

  

Page 85



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 57 

6.0 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT POWERS 

 

6.1 Enforcement Actions 

 

This is a summary of the main possible actions; more details can be found in the Local Planning 
Enforcement Policy. 

• Planning Contravention Notice (PCN) – in most cases this will be the first step in 
resolving a breach of planning control. It is the main method for gathering information, 
possibly including a formal meeting, regarding suspected breaches of planning control. The 
intention of a PCN is also to send a clear warning that further formal action is being 
considered once the facts of the case have been established. 

 

• Enforcement Notice: this is the most common form of action taken. The notice will 
specify what the breach of planning control is and the steps needed to put matters right. It 
also specifies a time before it comes into effect during which time an appeal can be made. 

 

• Stop Notice: in exceptional circumstances where a breach continues to cause serious 
harm to either amenity, public safety or the environment, the Council may in addition to an 
enforcement notice consider serving a Stop Notice. 

 

• Temporary Stop Notice: recently introduced by the Government, can be served 
without an accompanying Enforcement Notice and can halt activity for a maximum period of 
28 days where there is serious harm that needs to be stopped immediately. 

 

• Breach of Condition Notice: used when certain conditions placed on a planning 
permission have not been complied with. 

 

• Section 215 Notice when the condition of land or a building is adversely affecting the 
amenity of an area 

 

• Prosecution for unauthorised works to protected trees or listed buildings or where 
adverts are displayed without consent. 

 

6.2 Proceeds of Crime Act 

 

Any benefit derived from a breach of planning control which has continued in breach of a formal 
notice, in the form of financial gain or income, may be forfeit under the provisions of the Proceeds of 
Crime Act.  Act. 

  

Page 86



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 58 

7.0 WHAT IF A COMPLAINT IS MADE ABOUT YOUR PROPERTY OR DEVELOPMENT? 

 

If a complaint is received about your property or development then the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) has a duty to investigate the complaint in order to establish whether or not there has been a 
breach of planning control. It is often the case that breaches of planning control are not intentional 
and may arise from a misunderstanding or the person involved being unaware of planning 
regulations, and in many cases, it is established that there has been no breach of planning control. 

 

7.1 Your responsibilities 

 

If you receive a letter or a visit from an enforcement officer then we would encourage you to respond 
quickly, positively and to provide any required information so that the matter can be resolved quickly 
to the benefit of all parties. 

 

The LPA will not reveal the details or identity of the complainant(s) to you. The investigating 
enforcement officer will confirm to you as soon as practicable whether or not it is considered that 
there has been a breach of planning control, and in cases where there has been no breach the matter 
will usually be resolved quickly. 

 

In cases where a resolution may be negotiated, the enforcement officer will be happy to enter into 
discussions; however, we will not accept undue delays to required actions or responses during these 
negotiations and will expect you to respond within stated timeframes. 

 

In some cases, however the unauthorised development or activities will not be considered acceptable 
and you will be requested to cease/remove the works in order to avoid a formal notice being served 
upon you. 

 

7.2 Consequences of unauthorised development 

 

Property owners should be aware that development that does not benefit from the necessary 
planning permission is unauthorised. Any unauthorised development could delay or potentially 
prevent a future sale of the property if the relevant permissions do not show up on searches. 
Additionally, any formal enforcement notices served will be registered with the Councils land charges 
section and will appear during any searches on the property. Consequently, it is in the owner’s 
interest to have all necessary planning permissions in place and any enforcement issues resolved. 

 

7.3 The Investigation 

 

The planning enforcement officers have a right of entry onto any land without warrant in order to 
investigate an alleged breach of planning control. If it is necessary to enter your house (and not just 
the garden) then you are entitled to 24 hours’ notice. It is an offence to wilfully obstruct an 
enforcement officer exercising their right of entry and further action will be taken should this be the 
case, including if necessary a warrant being secured from court. 

Page 87



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 59 

 

Upon receipt of a complaint the enforcement officer will usually visit the site concerned without 
advanced warning being given. The site visit may be unaccompanied and the land owner or 
developer does not have to be present. At the site visit the enforcement officer will make themselves 
known to any person(s) present and show the appropriate identification when they enter the site. 
Should the land owner or occupier not have been present at the time of the initial site visit and it was 
not possible to gain access, or should it be necessary to contact the land owner or occupier after 
establishing that there is a breach of planning control on the site then a letter will be sent to the 
owner and/or occupier. The letter will request contact to be made with the enforcement officer and 
in some cases requiring specific actions taken within a specified timeframe. It is recommended that 
you respond to this correspondence as soon as possible. 

  

Page 88



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 60 

8.0 PHYSICAL AND VERBAL ABUSE TOWARDS OFFICERS 

 

The Council will not tolerate any physical or verbal abuse towards its planning enforcement officers. 
Where necessary the Council will use legal action to prevent abuse, harassment or assaults on its 
Officers. 

 

 

  

Page 89



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 61 

9.0 FURTHER INFORMATION AND CONTACT DETAILS 

 

This guidance gives a brief overview of planning enforcement, further details such as legislation and 
greater detail on powers and actions of enforcement can be found in the Local Planning Enforcement 
Plan.  WEB LINK 

 

We are constantly looking at ways to improve our services and welcome comments on this 
Enforcement Policy and any other matter relating to our Service. Contact details are given below: 

 

By Post 

Development Management Service 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 

Castle House 

Barracks Road 

Newcastle-under-Lyme 

Staffordshire 

ST5 1BL 

 

To ensure your complaint is immediately logged into our enforcement system please use the Council’s 
on-line form at:  

https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-enforcement  

 

Alternatively you may submit your complaint is submitted by E-mail. As this service requires 
additional data handling to enter the complaint into the system, please allow an addition two 
working days for the case to be registered: planningenforcement@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk  

 

We cannot register complaints made verbally as we require written evidence of a complaint to 
present to the courts if we proceed to prosecution in in any matter. You can however speak to use 
about the possibility of submitting a complaint or to enquire about an ongoing matter by telephone: 
01782 742408 

 

Advice on how to make an enquiry about unauthorised development or what to do if you carry out 
works or a change of use without planning permission can be obtained from the Councils Planning 
web site at: https://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/all-services/planning/planning-
applications/planning-applications-forms 

 

 

  

Page 90



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
  Page 62 

APPENDIX 5: ENFORCEMENT LOG SHEETS 

 

ALLEGED BREACH OF PLANNING CONTROL: .......................................................................................  

ADDRESS:  .............................................................................................................................................  

Date  Times  

(from and to)  

What is happening and where it 
is happening  

Any vehicle registrations 
involved and persons present 
(name or description)  

        

        

        

        

        

        

    

        

 

I certify that the entries on the sheet are true and are made at the time of observation of the events 
stated.  

I would be willing to act as a witness in court or at a planning inquiry Yes/ No (please circle)  

  

Signed………………………………………………………………..               Name……………………….…………………………… 

  

Date…………………………….  

RECORD OF WITNESS IN CONNECTION WITH  

A BREACH OF PLANNING CONTROL 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



  

  
Page 1 of 5 

 
 

Cabinet Forward Plan: Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council 
 

Notice of Key Decisions to be taken under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings & Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012  

 
This Plan gives 28 days’ notice of Key Decisions which we are expecting to take over the next few months. Councils cannot take Key Decisions without 
first giving 28 days’ notice, unless an urgent decision is required. Urgent Key Decisions may be taken under the urgency procedures set out in the 
Council’s Constitution. A decision notice for each Key Decision made is published within 6 days of it having been made. 
 
“Key decisions” are defined as those Executive (Cabinet) decisions which are likely: 
 

a. to result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings of £100,000 of more (in the case of Revenue) and £250,000 or more (in the case of 

Capital); and/or 

b. to be significant in terms of the effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards of the Borough. 
 

This Forward Plan also contains details of other important Cabinet decisions that we are expecting to take even if they do not meet this definition. 
 
Whilst the majority of these decisions taken at meetings held in public, some decisions may be taken in private meetings because they deal with 
confidential information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing it. If we intend to take a decision in private, that will be noted below with reasons.  
 
If you object to a decision being taken in private, you can tell us why by emailing DemocraticServices@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk or contacting the address 
below. Any representations received at least 8 working days before the meeting will be published with the agenda together with a statement of the 
Council’s response. Any representations received after this time will be reported verbally to the meeting.  

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 6

mailto:DemocraticServices@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk


  

  

The Cabinet is made up of the Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members with the following portfolios: 
 

Leader of the Council  (Corporate & Service Improvement, People & Partnerships Councillor Simon Tagg  

Deputy Leader & Cabinet Portfolio Holder  (Finance & Efficiency) Councillor Stephen Sweeney 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder  (Community Safety & Well Being) Councillor Helena Maxfield 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder  (Environment & Recycling) Councillor Trevor Johnson  

Cabinet Portfolio Holder  (Leisure, Culture & Heritage) Councillor Jill Waring 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder  (Planning & Growth)  Councillor Paul Northcott  

 
Exempt Information Categories under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972  
 

1. Information relating to any individual  

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual  

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under the authority 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

6.  Information which reveals an authority proposes; 

a. to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or  

b. to make an order or direction under any enactment 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of a crime 

 
Copies of the Council’s Constitution, agendas and reports relevant to any key decision may be accessed on the Council’s website www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk or may be viewed during normal office hours. Copies or extracts can be obtained on payment of a fee (unless the publication contains 
exempt information).  
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-     The Chief Executive’s Directorate, Castle House, Barracks Road 

Newcastle-under-Lyme, Staffordshire ST5 1BL  
Telephone 01782 742222      Email: DemocraticServices@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 

 
 
 

P
age 94

http://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/
http://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/
mailto:DemocraticServices@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk


  

  

Title of Report Brief Description of Report Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Intended 
Decision Date 

Relevant Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 

Wards 
Affected 

Reason for 
Determining 

in Private 
Session (if 
applicable) 

 

       

Local 
Enforcement 
Plan 
 

To review the existing plan 
and identify new targets for 
prioritising planning 
enforcement work 
 

Planning and 
Growth 
 

10 June 2020 Economy, Environment 
and Place 

All Wards N\A 
 
 

CV-19 Update 
and Recovery 
Plan 

To report update on financial 
impacts and service delivery, 
response & recovery 

Corporate 
and Service 
Improvement, 
People and 
Partnerships 
 

10 June 2020 Finance, Assets and 
Performance 

All Wards N/A 

Provisional 
Financial 
Outturn 
2019/20 
 

To report on the provisional 
financial outturn 

Finance & 
Efficiency 

8 July 2020 Finance, Assets and 
Performance 

All Wards N/A 

Knutton 
Masterplan 
 

To consider a report on the 
master planning of Knutton 
village. 
 

Planning and 
Growth 

8 July 2020 Economy, Environment 
and Place 

Knutton and 
Silverdale 

N/A 

Crematorium 
Grounds 
Extension 
 

Proposal to design an 
extension to the existing 
Crematorium Grounds 
 

Environment 
and 
Recycling 
 

9 September 
2020  
 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

Bradwell N\A 
 
 

Town Centre 
Plans 

To update on Future High-
street Fund and Town Deals 
 

Corporate 
and Service 
Improvement, 

9 September 
2020 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

All Wards N\A 
 
 

P
age 95



  

  

People and 
Partnerships 
 

Open Space 
Strategy 
Addendum 
 

An addendum to the existing 
Open Space Strategy is 
required to ensure that the 
strategy remains current 
through the life of the Joint 
Local Plan. 
 

Environment 
and 
Recycling 
 

9 September 
2020  
 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

All Wards N\A 
 
 

Affordable 
Funerals 
 

To consider introducing 
affordable funerals. 
 

Environment 
and 
Recycling 
 

9 September 
2020 
 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

All Wards N\A 
 
 

Air Quality OBC 
 

To authorise the submission 
of an air quality outline 
business case 
 

Environment 
and 
Recycling 
 

9 September 
2020 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

All Wards N\A 
 
 

Gym 
Refurbishments 
 

To authorise refurbishments 
of the J2 gym facility 
 

Environment 
and 
Recycling 
 

9 September 
2020 
 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

Town N\A 
 
 

Q1 Finance 
and 
Performance 
Report 

To receive a report in relation 
to Q1 of 2020 

Corporate 
and Service 
Improvement, 
People and 
Partnerships 
 

9 September 
2020 
 

Finance, Assets and 
Performance 

All Wards N\A 

Self-Build 
Register 

To receive a report on the 
publication of a register of 
land for Self-Build 
opportunities 

Planning and 
Growth 

9 September 
2020 
 

Economy, Environment 
and Place 

All Wards N\A 

Medium Term 
Financial 

To receive proposals for the 
2021/22 MTFS 

Finance & 
Efficiency 

9 September 
2020 

Finance, Assets and 
Performance 

All Wards N\A 

P
age 96



  

  

Strategy 
2021/22 

 

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF A PREVIOUS MEETING
	4 CORONAVIRUS RECOVERY PLAN UPDATE
	5 LOCAL PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PLAN
	local enforcement plan

	6 FORWARD PLAN

